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FINANCIAL POLICY AND PROCEDURES MANUAL 

 

Foreword 

 

These financial regulations deal with the management of University of Kigali finances and 

resources. They have been prepared to serve as a guide to all staff dealing with finances in 

application of financial regulations, policies and procedures. 

 

While preparing the regulations, reference has been made to GAAP, International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), and the University of Kigali constitution. 

It will be the duty of all members of staff dealing with financial matters to familiarize 

themselves with the document and adhere to the guidelines therein. The Rwanda government 

may from time to time issue guidelines in respect of financial management of the University, 

and in such cases these guidelines shall prevail. The University Council may review sections 

of these regulations and until a revised financial regulation document is issued, such reviews 

shall prevail. 

All issues relating to interpretation of these financial regulations shall be referred to the 

finance officer. 

It should be noted that the use of the term “He” in the document refers to both male and 

female members of staff. 
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ACRONYMS 

 

UoK: University of Kigali 
 

VC: Vice Chancellor 
 

DVCAF: Deputy Vice Chancellor Administration and Finance  
 

FM: Finance Manager 
 

UC: University Council 
 

JV: Journal Voucher  

 

MINEDUC: Ministry of education 

HRM: Human Resources Manager 

P&L: Profit and Loss 
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CHAPTER ONE: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES 

1.1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE  

The University of Kigali (UOK) Is committed to achieve its objectives through efficient and 

effective execution of its educational programs. Its desire is to become the leading institution. Thus, 

the institute seeks to have excellent management systems that enable it to effectively utilize its 

resources to realize optimal results in every field. 

Broadly, the UoK’s financial management processes should ensure efficiency, transparency, 

economy, timely and reliable financial information, appropriate accounting policies, suitable 

accounting rules, staffing competencies, and appropriate internal control systems without 

undermining execution of the institute’s activities. More specifically, this manual aims to achieve 

the following objectives: 

 

i. To explain accounting assumptions and policies adopted by the UOK; 

ii. To describe the accounting procedures operated by the UOK; 

iii. To create uniform financial and accounting policies and practices that shall be adopted by 

the UOK; 

iv. To provide a guide to staff involved in book keeping thereby create sound management and 

control of the UOK’s financial resources; 

v. To provide high standards of financial reporting and enable management to take effective 

and timely financial decisions; 

vi. To improve the internal control system of the UOK; 

vii. To document the UOK’s work ethics; and 

viii. To provide reference for training new staff. 

 

Financial management and accounting are a cycle entailing three major interdependent and 

successive elements: Financial planning and budgeting; accounting and internal control; and 

financial reporting – including auditing of financial reports 
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1.2 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

1.2.1 Purpose 

 

The Vice Chancellor is the Chief Accounting Officer of the UOK with the overall responsibility for 

its financial sustainability. He/she, therefore, has the overall responsibility for an effective and 

efficient management of all financial resources of the institute. He/she is also the signatory person 

for all the UOK official documents; academic and non-academic, and as well takes a lead in any 

financial decisions for the institution.   

VC will rely on the DVCFA and other finance and accounting personnel in the department to assist 

him / her with the day to day running of the department. 

 

The DVCFA has the responsibility over the daily operations of the institute including budgeting, 

financial records, application, interpretation and implementation of the accounting manual, the 

internal structures and the receipt and disbursement of funds. He/she may delegate the 

administrative responsibilities as deemed necessary. 

He/she is responsible for ensuring that the UOK periodically prepares financial statements that 

objectively and satisfactorily justify the uses of funds 

All staff of the UOK (Academic and Non-Academic) have the responsibility of being honest while 

handling all the financial matters of the institute, and also of complying, in good faith, with all the 

financial policies and procedures as given in this manual. They shall exercise utmost restraint over 

the finances and other assets of the institute, and conduct themselves in a manner befitting their 

status as members and stakeholders of the UOK. 
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1.2.2 Organogram of the finance function 

 

The organization structure of the finance department is presented in the chart below: 

 

 

 

Vice Chancellor 

(VC) 

 

 

 Deputy Vice Chancellor 

                                                        Finance & Admin  

  

 

                                                              

                                                           Finance Manager         

                                                        

 

 

                                                        Accountants 

 

 

                                                                  

                                                                 Accounts Clerks 

 

 

 

 

The other key areas of responsibility will include people management and development, 

departmental administration. 

 

1.2.3 Finance Manager 

The finance manager is tasked in overseeing and supervising the work of finance department. 

He or she is responsible for planning, implementing and controlling the university’s overall 

financial performance, planning & budgeting, reporting, compliance, and systems 

administration. The key areas of responsibility are outlined below: 

i. Supervising finance department 

ii. Reporting 

iii. Budgeting 

iv. Costs Control 

v. Procurement 
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vi. Internal Controls Monitoring 

vii. Training & Staffing Finance 

viii. Banks & Bank Reconciliation 

ix. External Relations (Suppliers, Banks/Financiers, Students, Etc.) 
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1.2.4 Accountants 

The accountants will assist the finance manager with day to day running of the department.  

His / her roles will be: 

1. Preparing, examining, and analyzing accounting records, financial statements, and other 

financial reports to assess accuracy, completeness, and conformance to reporting and 

procedural standards. 

2. Computing the taxes owed and preparing tax returns, ensuring compliance with payment, 

reporting and other tax requirements. 

3. Analyzing business operations, trends, costs, revenues, financial commitments, and 

obligations, to project future revenues and expenses or to provide advice. 

4. Establishing tables of accounts, and assigning entries to proper accounts. 

5. Developing, maintaining, and analyzing budgets, preparing periodic reports that compare 

budgeted costs to actual costs. 

6. Preparing local purchase orders and follow up with suppliers. 

7. Providing with records needed and assisting in audit process. 

8. Ensuring filing system is properly maintained and various supporting documents are in 

place. 

9. Ensuring fixed assets are safeguarded, insured and maintaining fixed asset register. 

10. Coordinating training schedules for internees. 

11. Posting payment and adjusting journals in the system. 

12. Checking accuracy of posted documents in the statements and approving bank 

reconciliation. 

13. Guiding accounting clerical staff by coordinating activities and answering questions. 

Reconciling financial discrepancies by collecting and analyzing account information. 

14. Complying with statutory reports and local financial legal requirements by studying 

existing and new legislation, enforcing adherence to requirements, and advising 

management on needed actions. 

15. Maintaining customer confidence and protects operations by keeping financial information 

confidential 

16. Maintaining professional and technical knowledge by attending educational workshops; 

reviewing professional publications; establishing personal networks; participating in 

professional societies. 

17. Contributing to team effort by accomplishing related results as needed. 
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1.2.5 Accounts Clerks 

The duties of accountants will include the following: 

1. Generating sales invoices and receipting respective payment by students 

2. Providing daily/ weekly/ monthly reports of sales and received payment by students 

3. Issuing of exam eligible list to invigilators/ clearance cards to students 

4. Ensuring only eligible students sits for exam 

5. Preparing and proving reports of sponsored students e.g. FARG, ngos, Government, etc. 

6. Preparing allowances report for sponsored students. 

7. Maintaining filing systems in a systematic manner e.g. Bank payment vouchers, petty cash 

vouchers, part time contracts, debtors lists, deposit slips/receipts, graduation clearance 

forms. 

8. Preparation of part time payroll and ensuring all supporting documents are provided i.e. 

Contracts, RSSB numbers etc. 

9. Maintaining part time lecturer’s attendance records and sending weekly report to the 

accountant. 

10. Overseeing invigilation process and providing invigilation officers report on weekly basis. 

11. Store management functions i.e. Preparation of items/ purchase requisition forms, issuing 

of items from store, keeping store records, receiving the purchases, posting purchase 

invoices in the system, preparing weekly report on usage etc. 

12. Verifying items billed against items ordered and received and reconciling the differences 

through follow-up with the vendor and/or other employees. 

13. Petty cash management. 

14. Receiving all financial records, recording them and filling or disseminating them to the 

respective personnel. 

15. Posting purchase invoices in the system. 

16. Preparing statutory returns 

17. Preparing bank reconciliations for all the bank accounts and submit them to the accountant 

for approval. 

18. Sorting out incoming and outgoing daily posts and answering any queries relating to daily 

financial operations relating to students, other employees, debtors, potential customers, 

creditors etc. 

19. Preparing cheques and payment vouchers 

20. Assisting in any other financial duties and responsibilities as may be assigned. 

21. Overseeing tuition fees processes i.e. Proper recording of sales invoices, 

22. Preparing statutory returns 
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23. Preparing bank reconciliations for all the bank accounts and submit them to the accountant 

for approval 

24. Posting purchase invoices in the system. 

25. Proving with debtors aging reports and doing daily follow up 

26. Ensuring only eligible students are allowed to sit for the exams. 

27. Maintaining filing systems in a systematic manner e.g. Bank payment vouchers, part time 

contracts, debtors lists/ aging reports, 

28. Preparation of part time payroll and ensuring all supporting documents are provided 

29. Checking whether petty cash transactions posted in the system are correct. 

30. Assisting in audit process 

31. Generating sales invoices and receipting respective payment by students 

32. Providing daily/ weekly/ monthly reports of sales and received payment by students 

33. Issuing exam eligible list to invigilators/ clearance cards to students and ensuring only 

eligible students sit for exam 

34. Preparing and providing reports of sponsored students e.g. Farg, ngos, government e.t.c 

35. Maintaining filing systems in a systematic manner e.g. Petty cash vouchers, part time 

contracts, debtor’s lists, deposit slips/receipts, graduation clearance forms. 

36. Handling and controlling invigilators attendance forms and preparing invigilation report on 

weekly basis. 

37. Store management functions i.e. Preparation of items/ purchase requisition forms, issuing 

of items from store, keeping store records, receiving the purchases, posting purchase 

invoices in the system, preparing weekly report on usage 

38. Verifying items billed against items ordered and received and reconciles differences 

through follow-up with the vendor and/or other employees. 

39. Petty cash management 

40. Receiving all financial records, recording them and filling or disseminating them to the 

respective personnel. 

41. Sorting out incoming and outgoing daily posts and answering any queries relating to daily 

financial operations relating to students, other employees, debtors, potential customers, 

creditors 

42. Assisting in any other financial duties and responsibilities as may be assigned. 
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1.3 GENERAL POLICY FRAMEWORK 

1.3.1 Authority for Financial Decisions 

The VC is the Overall Chief Finance/Accounting Officer of the UOK. He/she, therefore, has the 

overall responsibility for the effective and efficient management of all financial resources of the 

University. 

DVCFA takes over the challenge of ensuring that the UOK periodically prepares financial 

statements that objectively and satisfactorily justify the uses to which funds are put.  

The Finance Manager has the responsibility over the daily operations of the institute including 

budgeting, financial records, application, interpretation and implementation of the accounting 

manual, the internal structures and the receipt and disbursement of funds. He/she may delegate the 

administrative responsibilities as deemed necessary. 

All staff of the UOK (Academic and Non-Academic) has the responsibility of being honest while 

handling all the financial matters of the institute, and also of complying, in good faith, with all the 

financial policies and procedures as given in this manual. They shall exercise utmost restraint over 

the finances and other assets of the institute, and conduct themselves in a manner befitting their 

status as members and stakeholders of the UOK. 

 

 

 

 

1.3.2 Delegation of authority for financial decisions 

The authority on financial decisions is delegated on the following principles: 

 

1. Delegation of authority promotes efficiency, cost effectiveness, and transparency in the 

institute; 

2. Delegation empowers those employees to whom authority has been delegated, and makes 

them accountable for their decisions; 

3. Delegated authority must align with responsibility so that those with accountability for 

outcomes have the means and commensurate administrative ability to act accordingly; 

4. Delegated authority must be clarified in writing to prevent administrative holdups which 

may result from confusion about responsibilities or accountabilities, especially when 

systems, procedures, and organizational structures are undergoing change; 

5. Delegation does not absolve the person delegating the responsibility for the use of that 

authority. This means that the person delegating remains accountable and delegated 

authority may be withdrawn at any time, if misused; 
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6. If an employee acts outside the scope of, or without delegated authority, he/she may be 

held personally liable, and such an employee could be required to indemnify the institute 

for any loss incurred arising out of his/her actions; 

7. It is prohibited to split transactions or invoices in an attempt to circumvent prescribed 

authority limits, and such actions would be treated as actions beyond authority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 CHAPTER TWO: SCHOOL FEES POLICY 

2.1. INTRODUCTION 

This policy document outlines the university fees management process in relation to student fees 

along with the debt management procedures to be followed. The policy relates to all fees and 

charges payable to the university by students as tuition, library services and other miscellaneous 

services. The policy applies to all students; full-time, part-time, school/institution based in both 

undergraduate, postgraduate and any other person enrolled as a student of the university. All 

university staff are expected to familiarize themselves with this policy and to contribute to its 

effective implementation. 

This policy contains information about: methods for tuition fees payment, payment terms and due 

dates for tuition fees, refund of tuition fees in the event of withdrawal from the university and the 

provisions, including sanctions that apply in the event of a failure to adhere to payment terms. 
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2.2. PURPOSE 

2.3. THE PURPOSE OF THIS POLICY IS TO: 

 

1. Sensitize students and staff about the university policy on the management of fees payment 

processes and procedures so as to meet the university’s financial obligations. 

2. Formalize the management of the university’s fees income and to provide specific 

sanctions for non-payment of fees to students and clear any ambiguity. 

2.4 EXECUTION 

The finance department shall generate class lists consisted in students who have paid fees while 

teaching staff will ensure that only those on the class lists attend classes and sit for examinations. 

In this respect, teaching staff will be required to counter-check against the bona fide students’ class 

list obtained from the schools’/ faculties administrators and the finance department. 

2.5 FEES TO BE PAID BY STUDENTS 

Introduction 

All school fees shall be set by the university executive council and approved by the University 

Council. 

Proof of fees payable by a sponsor (companies, charitable organizations, individuals, etc.), shall be 

in writing by the sponsor. Such payments shall be made payable to the UoK bank accounts. 

However, it remains the responsibility of the student to ensure full payment of fees. 

All students, foreign and Rwandan citizens pay the same tuition fees. Evening, day and weekend 

program also pay same amount of tuition fees. No student will be allowed to sit for examinations 

without clearing tuition fees. 

 

Registration fees 

Students are required to pay fees and other charges in respect of their programme at the time of 

registration. No registration is complete until all fees have been paid. 

Registration fees are Frw 30,000. This is a one –off fee and includes the application fees, the 

student identity card fees and library card fees. 

Registration fees are paid to the UOK bank accounts by each and every admitted student and 

during the time of registration each student has to present the registration fees receipt before being 

registered 
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Tuition fees 

Undergraduate students 

Undergraduate students will pay tuition fees of Frw 180,000 (IT) and Frw 170,000 (other 

programs) per trimester. 

The tuition fees are paid at the beginning of every trimester for all undergraduate students. 

They are however allowed to pay in instalments as follows: 

 

1. 1st instalment: Frw 60,000 before the 1st module registration in a trimester. 

2. 2nd instalment: Frw 60,000 before the 2nd module registration in a trimester. 

 

3. 3rd instalment: Frw 60,000 (IT) and Frw 50,000 for other undergraduate programs before 

the 3rd module registrations in a trimester. 

 

Postgraduate students 

4. Master’s degree students will pay tuition fees of Frw 1,600,000 for the whole program. 

5. Postgraduate diploma in education (PGDE) students will pay tuition fees of Frw 432,000 

for the whole program. 

6. Postgraduate students are allowed to pay in instalments as follows: 

7. Master students: monthly instalment: Frw 133,350 before the start of every module exam 

during the program (which lasts 1 year). However, they are also allowed to pay in 12 

monthly instalments (at the beginning of every month –latest by the 10th day of the month) 

of Frw 133,350. 

8. PGDE students: monthly instalment: Frw 50,000 during the program (which lasts 9 

months). However, they are also allowed to pay in 6 monthly instalments (at the beginning 

of every month –latest by the 10th day of the month) of Frw 72,000. 

 

Other programs 

1. Cisco program: Frw 80,000 full program. 

2. Other professional course: CPA /CAT: Frw 60,000 (level 1) and Frw 70,000 (level 2). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

18 

Other fees 

Other fees are any fees owed to the university for services other than tuition and registration fees. 

The table below outlines the various services offered and their charges. 

 
   

Item  Charges 
 

Academic documents /loss “to whom it may concern”, transcripts (1st copy is free) and 

Of student id Other documents; Frw 5,000 per document. 

Re –registration fees Frw 25,000 annually 

 

 

 

 

 

Thesis /graduation fees Undergraduate Frw 150,000 and postgraduate: Frw 350,000 

Transfer /shifting Transfer of session, department or campus: Frw 10,000 

Loss of receipt Frw 1,000 

Special exams Frw 10,000 per exam 

Drop out fees Unofficial drop out fee is Frw 50,000 

 Access to library is free using student cards. However, loss 

 Of library materials (books) will be charged the cost of the 

Library Material. 

Retake Frw 45,000 

 Frw 30,000 for gown hire and Frw 20,000 upon return of 

Graduation fees Gown to the university within 2 weeks after graduation 
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2.6. FEES PAYMENT MODE AND THE UOK BANK ACCOUNTS 

Fees shall be paid by depositing the specified amount in the bank accounts provided by the 

university and subsequently presenting the banking /deposit slip for verification and 

receipting. The university shall also accept bankers’ cheques /certified cheques from 

recognized banks and financial institutions. The university shall not accept cash or personal 

cheques. 

The official UOK bank accounts are: 

COGEBANQUE 

• 001-1390106508-95 for undergraduate, postgraduate, PGDE and professional 

courses students. 

 

BANK OF KIGALI 

 

• 051-0616692-38 for all undergraduate students 

• 051-0616695-35 for fines, gown deposits, special exams, etc. 

• 049-0676249-03 for postgraduate students 

 

EQUITY BANK 

 

• 4012200365857 for undergraduate Kigali students 

• 4012211285548 for Musanze campus students 

       

KBC 

 

• 4401597680 /used for international /internationally sponsored students 
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2.7 SUPPORT TO STUDENTS 

Students facing difficulties will be advised to seek help from potential sponsors at the earliest 

possible opportunity. However, it is the university’s right to recover all outstanding fees 

debts. 

2.8. LOSS OF BANKING SLIP 

In order to encourage the students to be more responsible, the students are reminded that the 

banking slip is conserved as an accounting document which should be kept for a long time, 

every student who loses his/her bank slip will have to go back to the bank and get the 

stamped copy of the banking slip which has been lost. 

2.9. REFUNDS POLICY 

All fees paid (for registration and all other academic payments) are non-refundable except in 

case of double payment or payment to the UOK accounts by error. 

A refund on tuition fees which will be determined by the university can be made to a student 

who withdraws from the university, where the university is satisfied that the circumstances 

made it impractical for the student to continue with the studies. 

In all cases, the tuition fee for a trimester in progress at the time of request is nonrefundable, 

A student seeking a refund should complete a refund request form and return the form to the 

finance department for processing. Refund cheques will be made payable to the person or 

institution who paid the fees. 
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2.10. DEBT RECOVERY AND PENALTIES FOR LATE PAYMENT 

Fees and other charges are due for payment at the time of registration (registration fees). 

Tuition fees are payable on trimester basis and approved instalment plans. 

 

If it is not possible for students to pay the full fees at the time of registration, a suitable 

payment plan approved by the deputy vice chancellor administration and finance (DVCFA) 

on recommendation from the finance or other departments shall be made on how the 

outstanding fees will be paid. The student will be required to pay fees as per the approved 

payment plan. Failure to adhere to the plan will result in automatic exclusion of the student 

from the bona fide students list. 

Failures to pay fees by due date will also attract a monthly late payment fee equal to 5% of 

the amount due until all fees are cleared. In addition; 

1. If fees remain unpaid beyond the stipulated period, students will not be allowed to sit 

for exams. Access to classes will also be restricted unless outstanding fees are paid in 

full or a new payment plan is agreed upon with the university management. 

2. If the fees remain unpaid, the student will subsequently be notified in writing of the 

university’s decision to take legal action to recover outstanding debt, including costs 

that may be incurred e.g. Commission and charges that may be incurred in debt 

collection. 

3. The university may withhold the conferment of awards to students who have 

outstanding balances and re-enrolment will be applied. 

Note: the university reserves the right to collect fees owed 

2.11. MANAGERIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

The deputy vice chancellor administration and finance (DVCFA) in conjunction with the top 

management is responsible for the implementation of this policy. 

Staff at the finance department are responsible for the effective operation of fees collection 

and accounting procedures. 

Others who are responsible include: 

1. Heads of School 

2. Dean of students 

3. Other schools/faculties administrator 
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CHAPTER THREE: INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK 

The management of the UOK is obliged to implement suitable internal processes designed to 

ensure reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, safeguarding 

the resources/assets of the institute, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The 

fundamental component of an internal control system is the overall control framework because it 

sets the character at the top of the institute, consequently influencing control consciousness and 

discipline among employees. The minimum guidelines for the UOK’s desired control framework 

include: 

3.1. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

As a minimum, the UOK’s organizational structure should ensure that the following 

responsibilities are performed by different individuals, and there is independent hierarchical 

internal check over the actions of those individuals. 

3.2. AUTHORIZATION OF TRANSACTIONS 

 

1. Execution of those transactions (including direct dealing with the suppliers, price 

negotiations, confirmation of delivery, etc.); 

2. Record keeping for those transactions; and 

3. Payments for those transactions. 

3.3. ASSIGNMENT OF AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY 

1. Delegated authority must align with responsibility; 

2. Job descriptions and responsibilities must be well defined in writing and communicated to 

the respective employees who must acknowledge receipt in writing; 

3. Assigned authority limits as well as the consequences of non-compliance must be 

communicated to the respective employees and acknowledged in writing; and 

4. The responsibility for the operation of key internal financial controls such as bank account 

signatories and reconciliation must be clearly defined and communicated. 
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3.4. INTEGRITY AND ETHICAL VALUES 

1. The effectiveness of internal financial controls depends directly on the integrity and 

ethical values of the employees who are responsible for creating and administering those 

controls. Therefore, 

2. The background of the prospective employees should be cross-checked prior to delegating 

to them responsibility for financial transactions; 

3. There should be written codes of conduct and personnel regulations regarding such 

aspects as prevention of conflicts of interest, expected standards of ethical and moral 

behavior, and respect for authority; and 

4. Management should visibly take appropriate disciplinary action when an employee’s 

conduct fails to meet the specifications in the codes of conduct. 

3.5. COMMITMENT TO COMPETENCE AND EFFICIENCY 

Employees should possess the knowledge and skills essential to the performance of assigned jobs. 

Therefore, the UOK should be committed to hiring employees with appropriate levels of 

education, experience and skills matching with assigned jobs, and to provide the employees with 

adequate supervision and training. 

3.6. MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY AND OPERATING STYLE 

Management philosophy and operating style affects the way how the UOK’s activities are 

managed. Management must take the lead in compliance with the provisions of the manual or any 

other regulations of the institute. 
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CHAPTER FOUR: ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

4.1. PURPOSE 

 

International financial reporting standards (IFRS) require organizations to set and disclose 

accounting policies used in the preparation of financial statements. This section describes the 

main accounting policies adopted by UOK in accounting for income, expenditure, assets and 

liabilities. 

4.2. FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS 

It is generally assumed that financial statements are based on the following assumptions: 

 

1. Going concern 
 

2. Consistency 
 

3. Accruals 
 

4. Matching principal 
 

Each of the above assumptions is defined below. 

 

Going concern 

The going concern rule makes the assumption that the organization “has neither the intention nor 

the need to liquidate or curtail the scale of its operations drastically in the foreseeable future”. If 

there are indications that the going concern assumption is inappropriate, the financial statements 

are likely to need preparation using an alternative basis. 

 

Consistency 

Accounting policies should be applied consistently to all transactions: 

 

1. During the accounting period; and 

2. From period to period. 

 

Accruals 

Under the accrual concept, revenue is recognized when earned and expenditure when incurred. 

Therefore, the transactions and events are recorded in the accounting records and recognized in 

the financial statements of the periods to which they relate. This principle will be applied as 

follows: 
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Revenue recognition 

Revenues from school fees are recognized when the services are rendered. (school registration; 

student commits by paying school fees) 

 

Expenditure recognition 

Expenses will be recognized when incurred even though payment may not have been made. 

 

Matching principle 

It is important to record expenses in the period to which associated revenue is generated. 

4.3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Financial statements shall be prepared under the historical cost convention as modified to include 

valuation of fixed assets. 

The accounting policies on preparation of financial statements are provided below, and they 

specifically include policies on accounting for revenue, expenditure, depreciation, foreign 

currency transactions, and bad debt provisions. 

 

Revenue from school fees 

Revenues comprise tuition fees and other income during an accounting period. There may also be 

sundry income arising from the sale of assets, etc. 

All revenues will be accrued and accounted for in the financial period to which they relate. 

 

Bad debt expense 

A bad and doubtful debt provision shall be made for specific debts. 

Employee costs 

The full costs of employees will be charged to the accounts during the period in which employees 

work. Material amounts earned but unpaid at the end of the financial period will be accrued. 

These include, but are not limited to, accruals for annual leave and leave passages not yet taken. 

Other expenses 

The cost of other supplies and services will be accrued and accounted for in the period during 

which they are consumed or received. Material sums unpaid at the end of a period for goods or 

services received or works completed shall be accrued. 
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Similarly, expenses paid for in advance of the period to which they relate shall be recorded as 

prepayments in the balance sheet, and released gradually to the profit and loss account in 

accordance with their appropriate timing. 

 

Fixed assets 

Direct expenditure for the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed assets will be capitalized 

on an accruals basis. Expenditure on the acquisition of a tangible asset will be capitalized and 

classified as a fixed asset, provided it yields benefits to the organization and the services it 

provides for a period of more than one year. 

 

Post balance sheet events 

The occurrence of a material post balance sheet event relating to conditions which did not exist at 

the balance sheet date will be disclosed in the financial statements. The disclosure will state the 

nature of the event and, where possible, an estimate of the financial effects. 

 

Foreign currencies 

All transactions must be recorded in the accounting system with a base currency (local currency) 

value. If a transaction originates in a foreign currency, then the foreign currency equivalent 

should also be recorded. 

The accounting policy in relation to exchange rates is that profit and loss account items are 

converted at the average rate for the period, while balance sheet items are converted at the closing 

rate for the period. The rates to be used are the mid-rate from the organization’s primary bankers 

in Rwanda. 

 

Other receivables 

Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value. Specific provision shall be made for 

all known doubtful receivables. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash 

flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with 

banks, other short-term highly liquid investments, and bank overdrafts. 
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Provision for liabilities 

The UOK will make proper provision for any liabilities or loss likely (or certain) to be incurred, 

where there is uncertainty as to the amounts or the dates on which they might arise. Provisions, or 

changes in provisions, will be charged to operating costs. Subsequent related costs will be 

charged directly against the provision to the extent that the remaining provision is in excess of the 

cost. Where the provision is exhausted, subsequent costs will be charged directly to the P&L (or 

relevant balance sheet account where applicable.) 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the UOK has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Where the organization expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 

contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 

virtually certain. 

 

Summary 

In summary, accounting policies which must be included in the financial statements should: 

1. Reflect the methods of applying the fundamental accounting concepts of "accruals", 

"going concern", "consistency" and "prudence"; 

2. Enable users of the financial statements to understand the basis on which they have been 

prepared. 

 

Stocks and stores (inventories) 

Stocks will be valued on a weighted average basis. Fixed assets items in the stores will be 

recorded in the stock records and their usage controlled through the use of store movement cards. 

 

Responsibility 

It is the responsibility of the finance manager to: 

1. Develop, amend and recommend to the management and University Council accounting 

principles, policies and procedures in the light of changed circumstances (both internal 

and external); 

2. Ensure that the accounting policies and principles are observed by accounting staff; and 
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3. Continuously scrutinize all books so as to ensure that all accounting instructions in force 

are observed, no portion of the system at any time is allowed to fall behind, and abstract 

transcripts and other records are clean and neat. 
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CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES  

5.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements will be prepared in compliance with the accounting standards adopted by 

the UOK. 

5.2. DEPARTURES FROM FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS 

Any departures from these fundamental accounting assumptions should be disclosed in the 

financial statements. 

5.3. ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS 

In setting accounting policies, the finance department should be governed by the following 

criteria: 

Prudence: 

Expenses, liabilities, assets and revenue shall not be overstated or understated. 

In addition, losses shall be recognized as soon as possible, and gains included in the financial 

statements when certain; 

 

Substance over form: 

The substance over form principle must be considered in cases where the legal form of a 

transaction does not mirror its economic substance. Accounting should always reflect economic 

substance over legal form; 

 

Relevance and materiality: 

Information is relevant if it influences users on economic decisions and material if it affects the 

evaluation of financial statements 
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5.4. APPROVALS 

All accounting transactions must be approved. An approval mandate must be in place to govern 

the approval requirements and limits on different types of transactions. 

The general principals on approvals are as follows: 

 

1. The approvals process is a key internal control in the organization’s operations, ensuring 

that only valid, properly ordered and approved transactions are posted into the system; 

2. The claimant must sign the form (particularly in cases of staff claims, requests for 

advance, or payment vouchers that specifically relate to individuals such as subscriptions, 

leave passages etc.); 

3. The appropriate manager (departmental manager, staff manager, training manager, hr 

manager etc.) will authorize as the first approver; 

4. The appropriate section head will authorize as second approver; 

 
 

 
Expenses must be signed by the DVCFA (as the claimant) and approved by the VC. 
 

1. An approver who is also a bank signatory may not sign a cheque for settlement of his / her 

own claim, unless such a claim has also been approved by a (different) head of 

department; 

2. The accountant will typically do a preliminary review of all payment vouchers, principally 

checking for accuracy (casting), correct accounting for vat and withholding tax, matching 

to local purchase order (LPO), and goods received note (GRN). Where the coding can be 

readily determined from the above information, the accountant will also verify the account 

code. In other cases, coding can only be verified once the approver has indicated the exact 

nature and purpose of the expense; 

3. The DVCFA will approve all transactions before final posting is made to the system. In 

addition to areas reviewed by the accountant, the DVCFA will check for correct approvals 

and final transaction coding; 

4. All other purchases require that a local purchase order (LPO) be raised to the supplier. In 

circumstances such as purchasing of computer or office equipment, a minimum of three 

quotations should be received from reputable suppliers to ensure that the organization gets 

the best possible price. 
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5. Only VC can commit the organization (i.e. Create an obligation to a supplier) therefore all 

lops must be prepared by the office of the DVCFA before they are approved to be issued 

to the supplier. This is a key internal control to ensure that only duly authorized purchase 

orders are placed. 

5.5. JOURNAL ENTRY PROCES 

A journal entry (also known as a journal voucher / jv) is an entry or transaction used in the 

accounting system general ledger to book amounts for assets, liabilities, expenses, and revenues 

for a company or entity. Journal entries are initiated and completed by the accountant with the 

proper security access to create journal entries in accounting system. 

Journal entry documents should be initiated and completed on a timely basis to ensure that those 

reviewing have time to take action. If possible, the accountant should not wait until the fiscal 

month closing week to initiate documents. Access to reverse journals is restricted to the finance 

manager and DVCFA.  

The jv will be prepared by the accountant who will forward to the finance manager for approval 

and then recorded in the accounting system. 

Jv documents will need approvals and will directly post to the general ledger. The accountant will 

review and approve every document initiated, regardless of amount or cost centre. 

All journal entries made must be sequentially pre-numbered and filed sequentially. A list of all jvs 

raised and recorded should be entered in a journal entry listing form. 

Approval 

All correcting journal entries proposed by an entity must be approved by the finance manager. 

When instructed by the finance manager, the accountant may approve the correcting journal 

entries in his or her absence. 

 

Recording transactions 

The following procedures should be followed to initiate a journal entry: 

 

฀ Generate supporting documentation for the proposed journal entry. 
 

฀ Send the correcting journal entry form and any supporting documentation to the 

Finance Manager for approval and signature. 
 

฀ File copy of the correcting journal entry form and the supporting 

documentation. 
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฀ Post the journal entry recorded in the general ledger immediately. 
 

฀ Confirm to the Finance Manager that all correcting journal entries have been 

posted in the respective general ledger. 
 

฀ File documents as appropriate. 
 

5.6. ACCOUNTING PERIODS 

The financial year 

The organization’s financial year runs from 1 January to 31 December. For example, the 

financial year 2018 runs from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 20186. 

 

The accounting period (month) 

The financial year is split into twelve accounting periods, with January being period 1 and 

December being period 12. The accounting period runs from the 1st to the 30th/ 31st of the 

following month. For example, period 1, which is January, will run from 1st to 31st January. 

5.7 ACCOUNTING DOCUMENTS 

5.7.1. Purpose 

 

This section describes the type and nature of key accountable documents maintained by the 

 

UOK, their control, custody, and security. The main objectives of these documents include: 

 

• To provide third party evidence, which is more reliable than evidence provided by 

internally generated documents; 

 

• Provide authority for effecting an accounting transaction; 

 

• Provide reliable references to books of accounts and management records. 

 

5.7.2. Examples of important accounting documents 

 

• Receipt vouchers; 

 

• Bank payment vouchers; 

 

• Petty cash payment vouchers; 

 

• Local purchase orders; 

 

• Sales invoices; 
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• Suppliers/purchases invoices; 

• Goods received notes; 

 

• Delivery notes; 

 

• Store issue vouchers; 

 

• Journal voucher; 

 

Note: all accounting documents shall be pre-numbered either directly by an accounting system 

or in a printer. 

 

5.7.3. Accounting documents register 

 

A separate register known as “accounting documents register” shall be maintained for the 

specified accountable documents. All documents received and issued shall be recorded in the 

register. Each issue shall be signed for by the drawer/recipient. At no time shall a person hold 

more than one active accounting document of the same nature. The accountant shall maintain 

the register. 

 

5.7.4. Custody of accounting documents 

 

The documents above shall be kept in the custody of the finance manager, and access to these 

documents shall be restricted to the key holder or with his/her authority. The finance manager 

shall check these books on regular basis to ensure the documents are correctly recorded and 

properly stored. 

 

5.7.5. Completed accounting documents 

 

The users shall account for all completed accounting documents. The accounting documents 

register shall show when such books were completed. Completed books shall be kept for 

purposes of maintaining an audit trail. 

 

5.7.6. Retention of accounts and supporting documents 

 

All financial records shall be retained for 10 (ten) years after the end of the financial year to 

which they relate or for 7 (seven) years after the external auditors have completed the audit of 

the accounts for the relevant year, whichever is later. 

 

They shall only be destroyed subject to approval from the University Council and in 

conformity with the guidelines issued by MINEDUC. 
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5.7.7 Loss of accounting documents 

 

The finance manager shall frequently take stock of accounting documents. Loss of these 

documents or part thereof shall be immediately investigated. The accountant shall inform the 

DVCFA, who will make a decision as to whether to report the matter to police, publish the 

loss in the press, or any other action in the circumstances, in the best interest of the institute. 

 

5.7.8. Change of officers 

 

• Personnel responsible for financial records, funds, or other property shall be relieved of 

their responsibility only after their accountability and hand over procedures have been 

cleared and assumed by a designated successor. 

 

• Clearance shall be obtained after a physical count of assets to ensure records agree with 

existence. Financial records shall be verified or reconciled for accuracy. The physical 

count and reconciliation to the records shall be done by both parties (incoming and 

outgoing officers), who will append their signatures on the approval documents as a 

show of acceptance of the accountability report. 

 

• The outgoing officer shall remain responsible for any discrepancies noted in the 

certificate for the period he/she held office. 

 

• For temporary change of officers, the same verification shall be followed except that 

there shall be no need to complete a certificate. 

 

5.7.9. Specific purpose of each accounting document 

 

The specific purpose of each of the above-mentioned accounting documents is given below. 

 

Receipt voucher 

 

Whenever UOK receives money either directly on its bank accounts or physically by a 

bankers cheque, a receipt voucher with UOK’s logo and address shall be given. The voucher 

may be generated by software or be raised manually from printed material. The voucher shall 

be prepared by the accountants and be approved by the finance manager /DVCFA. The 

receipts column of the cash book shall make reference to the receipt voucher. Appendix 1 

shows the specimen of a receipt voucher. 

 

Bank payment voucher 
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Pre-numbered bank payment vouchers shall support all bank payments. All payments entered 

in the bank cash book shall make reference of the relevant bank payment voucher number; in 

fact the cash book will have a column specifically reserved for the bank payment voucher 

numbers. Appendix 2 shows the specimen of a bank payment voucher. 

 

Petty cash payment voucher 

 

All cash payments shall be supported by pre-numbered petty cash payment vouchers. All 

payments entered in the petty cash book shall make reference of the relevant petty cash 

payment voucher number. The petty cash book shall have a column specifically reserved for 

the petty cash book payment voucher numbers. Appendix 3 shows the specimen of a petty 

cash payment voucher. 

 

Local purchase order 

 

 

Local purchase order is a document issued by management authorizing purchase of goods or 

acquisition of services for the UoK. After approval, and delivery to the supplier of goods or 

services, it becomes a legally binding document and seals a contract between the supplier and 

the UoK. Local purchase orders shall be pre-numbered on the UoK’s printed material and 

shall always be approved by the finance manager and DVCFA and be attached to all 

suppliers’ invoices, except as may be specified in the UoK’s procurement policy. Appendix 4 

shows a specimen of the local purchase order. A local purchase order is used to award 

contracts for the supply of goods and for supply of services a service contract suffices. In all 

cases, a local purchase order may be issued following the laid UoK down procurement policy 

and procedures. 

 

Invoices 

 

 

A pre-numbered invoice, printed with the UoK’s address, shall be issued to students as 

required and receipt vouchers shall be raised to acknowledge collection from the student. 

Reference shall be made to the relevant student’s invoice. 

 

Suppliers/purchases invoice 

 

The UoK shall be given invoices for all goods and services it procures from suppliers. All 

payments for such goods and services shall be supported by the relevant suppliers’ invoices. 
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Goods received note 

 

All goods purchased by the UoK shall be delivered into stores before they are used. The 

storekeeper shall raise a goods received note for all goods received into the stores. The goods 

received note shall be pre-numbered and be printed with the UoK’s name and address. A copy 

of the goods received note signed by the storekeeper, to acknowledge the receipt of the goods, 

shall be presented with the supplier’s invoice when demanding for payment. The goods 

received note number becomes a reference document for the storekeeper when updating the 

stock bin card. The quantity of each type of stock received and recorded on the stock bin card 

shall be matched with the appropriate goods received note. The goods received note shows the 

type of goods received and the quantity. The storekeeper shall make note on the goods 

received of short deliveries or defective goods. Highly technical goods shall only be received 

in the presence of an expert. Appendix 5 shows a specimen of a goods received note. 

 

Delivery note/book 

 

 

A delivery note shall be used when the UoK is delivering goods to others. The recipient of the 

goods signs the delivery note to acknowledge receipt of the goods. The delivery note can also 

be used in a form of a book when delivering reports and other external correspondences to 

others. The delivery book can also be used internally for exchange of reports and other 

correspondences between staff and departments. 

 

Stock issue voucher /material requisition note 

 

 

Stock issue voucher shall be pre-numbered and be printed with the UoK’s address and name. 

Stock issue voucher gives authority to the storekeeper to release materials from the stores and 

shall be approved by the accountant or the heads of the user departments. The stock issue 

voucher is a reference document for updating the stock bin card particularly the issues. 

 

Journal voucher 

 

 

Journal voucher shall be pre-numbered and be printed with the address and name of the UoK 

and shall be used for correction of errors or making any other adjustments to the accounts. 

Appendix 6 shows the specimen of a journal voucher. 
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CHAPTER SIX: BUDGETING AND FINANCIAL PLANNING 

 

6.1. PURPOSE 

A budget may be described as an itemized summary of estimated or intended revenues and 

expenditures for a given period along with proposals for financing them. 

 

Financial planning and budgeting set out a financial blueprint for the ensuing year’s activities 

and guides the accounting and reporting of the financial implications of those activities. The 

UoK’s annual budget shall mean the budget for the activities of the institute for the period 

between 1st january and 31st december of each year. It shall be presented in rwf. The format 

and components of the annual budget shall be stipulated by the University Council and 

adhered to in the budget preparation process. It is fundamental that each budget holder gets 

involved in the planning/budgeting process to ensure ownership. A budget holder is an 

employee with delegated authority for financial decisions. 

 

At a minimum, the annual financial planning/budgeting process should entail predetermining 

the following: 

a) The institute’s goals and objectives to be achieved over the coming year; 

 

b) The detailed activities to be carried out during the year in order to achieve the set goals; 

 

c) Assigned responsibility for each of those goals i.e. Who does what; 

 

d) Assigned deadlines for completion of each of those activities; 

 

e) Yardsticks for measuring the performance of those activities – key performance 

indicators (KPI). For example target income, budgetary expenditure limits, etc..; 

O agreeing on the KPI between the assigned employee and his/her immediate 

supervisor who would be responsible for appraising the performance of that 

employee; 

 

O establishing the periodic intervals for appraising performance – it is 

recommended that appraisal should be carried out in intervals not later than six 

months; 

 

O identifying necessary resources for the performance of the planned activities 

e.g. Vehicles, equipment, human capital, etc.; 

 

O putting a cost to those activities and resources, and making cash flow 

projections for the ensuing year – budget. A budget reflects a “translation” of 

the several plans of action for the ensuing year into financial implications; and 
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o Agreeing corrective measures to be taken to address deviations from the plans. 

 

In addition to the budget for the specific financial year, it is required that financial projection 

shall be made annually for three to five years. 

 

6.2. The budgeting process – who does what? 

 

The budgeting process shall follow a “bottom-up” approach to ensure full participation and 

ownership by the budget holders. This approach shall ensure motivation of those involved and 

smooth implementation of the budget. The allocation of responsibilities under the bottom-up 

approach shall be as follows: 

 

• Determining the strategic objectives and goals for the year being budgeted. This shall be 

the responsibility of the VC in consultation with the DVCFA and Heads of Schools. The 

task is best accomplished in a specific “pre-budget meeting”. 

 

• Determining the various activities to be performed as to achieve the objectives and 

goals. This is the micro level of the budgeting process and it is the responsibility of each 

departmental head, in consultation with the respective employees under their 

supervision. The activities shall be translated into monetary terms so as to determine the 

financial resources involved – budget. 

 

• With the support of the accountant, the finance manager coordinates the budgeting 

process and the other managers are required to provide the necessary underlying data, 

especially the non-financial data. Essentially, there shall be sub-budgets for each cost 

centre of UoK. 

 

• The finance manager shall consolidate the sub-budgets (departmental budgets) into a 

draft budget (master budget) for the university. It is important that departmental budgets 

are discussed and agreed between the respective budget holders and the finance 

manager before consolidation. 

 

• A specific budget preparation committee meeting constituting the DVCFA, finance 

manager, Heads of Schools, HR, etc. to draft the budget. The review and approval of the 

draft consolidated budget lien in the responsibility of senior management committee. At 

such a meeting, chaired by the VC, the finance manager shall present and explain the 

draft budget in detail. 

 

• There should be a comparison of the budget to the previous year budget and actual 

performance. Particular attention should be drawn to any budget overruns (i.e. Where 

total expenditure exceeded funds available). 

 

• It is the responsibility of the DVCFA to ensure that the draft budget is presented to the 

management in the right form and at the right time for discussion and approval. 
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• The VC executes this task in collaboration with the DVCFA and presents it to the 

University Council for approval. 

 

• After the management’s approval, the draft budget shall be presented to the University 

Council.  

 

• The approved budget is an authority to the University Management to spend the funds 

in carrying out the activities detailed in the budget. 

 

• The approved budget shall be fed into the accounting software in use so that it becomes 

an integral part of the accounting system. A budget integrated into the accounting 

system shall be automatically monitored, in the sense that it shall be able to generate 

budgetary control reports any time management requires them. 

 

• The budget implementation shall be subject to monthly monitoring of the budget 

variances. This monitoring facilitates remedial measures and financial forecasts of the 

remaining months of the financial year. 

 

• It shall be the responsibility of the accountant to prepare budget performance reports on 

monthly basis. 

 

• Management by exception shall be exercised i.e. Taking action on unusually big 

variances, whether favorable or unfavorable. 

 

• Transfer of budgets from one category to another shall not be allowed unless prior 

written approval is given by the rector. 

 

• The DVCFA shall ensure that all expenditure is within the budget before a commitment 

is undertaken. If the expenditure was not provided for or exceeds the budget, prior 

approval shall be obtained from University Council. 

 

• In case of emergency, and where the University council is unable to meet, the VC may 

take an urgent decision in order to fulfil the obligations of the institute and such 

decision must be brought to the knowledge of the chairperson of the University Council 

within 15 days. The decision must be brought to the attention of the subsequent 

University Council meeting for examination. 

 

6.3. Budget calendar 

 

The date of budget submission to the University Council is a more critical factor in the UoK’s 

budget calendar. 

 

Consequently, the following deadlines apply for each financial year. 
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Mid-year review of budget variances for the prior year and projections for the remaining 

months 30
th

 august. Pre-budget meeting to determine strategic objectives and goals for the 

year being budgeted 31st September. 

 

Detailed costing of micro activities necessary to achieve the objectives and goals for the 

budget year 15
th

 October 

 

Departmental budgets agreed between the accountant and budget holders 15th October 

 

Budget committee meeting to discuss and agree draft consolidated budget 30th October 

presentation of the draft budget to the University Council 15th November submission of the 

final draft budget to the University Council 31st November top-down explanation of the final 

budget to budget holders 15th \December inputting the approved budget in financial 

accounting system 31st December.   

 

6.4. The Content And Format Of The Annual Budget 

The budget is a statement of financial plans presented in form of projected financial 

statements comprising of income statements, balance sheet, and statements of cash flows. 

These statements shall show monthly trends as well as the comparative actual financial 

statements for the year running. Therefore, the budgeted financial statements must be in the 

format of actual financial statements. It is important to prepare detailed supporting schedules 

to explain the workings for the amounts in the financial statements. Thus, the schedules would 

show the correlations between the several variables and the underlying amounts in the 

financial statements. 

 

The presentation of the budget to the University Council and shall be supported by a narrative 

budget commentary containing, at least, the underlying planned operational activities and the 

budget drivers such as projected patient numbers, charges, target kpis, analysis of the 

economic environment, identified constraints, and envisaged mitigation measures. 

 

6.5. Budgetary Control Measures 

For proper control and monitoring of budget execution, variances between actual financial 

performance and the corresponding budgets shall be identified, analyzed, and explained on a 

monthly basis. This frequency will facilitate putting in place remedial measures at the right 

time. 
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In practice, the significance of specific budget variances vary with the underlying activity; e.g. 

A 10% variance on income target could be significant, while a 20% on stationary expenditure 

may be immaterial due to the values involved. Nonetheless, in principle, variances beyond 

10% shall be explained and remedial measures taken. 

 

The respective budget holders shall be involved in the budget variance analysis process 

because they are the persons possessed with the primary reasons for the variances under their 

jurisdictions. If this approach is not used, there may be disagreements between the accountants 

(who analyze the variances) and the budget holders over the reasons and remedial actions to 

be taken. 
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CHAPTERSEVEN: CHARTOF ACCOUNTS  

7.1.  Introduction 

 

The chart of accounts facilitates the objective and consistent classification of the UoK’s 

expenditure and income into specific account heads, with codes that allow easy identification. 

Transactions shall be identified and allocated account codes as detailed in the institute’s chart 

of accounts. 

 

7.2. Key principles of transaction coding 

 

฀ All transactions entered into the financial systems will require coding. To ensure that all 

relevant information is captured, the relevant accounting form must be attached to each 

transaction. The form has appropriate input spaces for the required codes. 
 

฀ Get it right first time: all the management and financial reports are driven by account 

coding. 
 

฀ Incorrect coding will lead to inaccurate reporting, and also to delays because time will 

have to be spent to make corrections to the accounts. It is the responsibility of the 

accountant to ensure that all transactions are correctly coded. It is the responsibility of the 

accountant and the DVCFA to review and approve coding before the accountants posts the 

transaction to the system. 
 

฀ Coding is by the reason for, rather than the nature of, the expenditure. This means that an 

expense will be coded to the budget line relating to the reason why (purpose) it has been 

incurred. For example an air fare may be incurred for training, regional meetings, leave 

passages, recruitment etc.. The cost will not be charged to the account code for air fares 

(nature of the cost), but rather to the code for training, or leave passages etc. (reason for 

the cost). 
 

฀ Costs that are incurred by or relate to an individual (such as medical, air fares) should have 

the staff’s initials as part of the analysis code to facilitate drill down analysis and 

reporting. 
฀ Description should be adequate in order to provide sufficient information about the 

transaction without the need to revert to the original document. The DVCFA should agree 

with the accountants on standard abbreviations and formats to be used for narrative and 

description in the various systems. 
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7.3. Approval of the chart of accounts 

 

Once the chart of accounts has been agreed on at the departmental levels, then it shall be 

forwarded to the University Council for approval. Changes involving new account heads or 

erasing of the old account heads shall be approved by the University Council and be 

communicated to all departmental heads. 

 

7.4. Controls on the chart of accounts 

 

The chart of accounts acts as reference data for transaction analysis and reporting. Access to it 

must be controlled and monitored by the DVCFA to avert risks to the integrity of the data. 

 

The DVCFA must ensure that: 

 

฀ Access to amend the chart of accounts (add, delete, activate or deactivate codes) is 

restricted only to authorized personnel;  
 

฀ Approval procedures (e.g. For setting up a new accounts code, client or staff member) 

are properly followed and the right paperwork is in place.  
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CHAPTER EIGHT: ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS  

8.1. Purpose 

 

This section introduces the accounting systems used by the department, describes their core 

functionality, outlines the key work plan for each system, and describes the inter-relation 

between the systems. 

 

8.1.1. Introduction 

 

The operations of the finance department are computerized and there is an accounting system 

in place in the UOK. All management and statutory information should be produced from 

these system, though some further analysis may be required using Microsoft excel as a front 

end. 

 

Departments that use the accounting system must use the system in a consistent manner to 

ensure uniformity of working practices across the organization. 

 

Complete training courses on the core systems, together with related manuals are provided by 

supplier of the accounting system. Systems‟ training is part of the induction program and is a 
combination of formal training sessions as well as on-the-job training. Staff of accountant 

grade and above must be trained on systems administration, report writing and import/export 

routines. 

 

The DVCFA is responsible for the administration, maintenance, security and integrity of the 

financial system. He/she may delegate certain tasks in this respect to the accountant. The 

DVCFA is also responsible for training all new staff on the systems, and carrying out periodic 

refresher training as may be required. 

 

8.2 key concepts of accounting systems 

 

This section describes the key concepts of any accounting system, in order to provide a 

background framework for users. 
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8.3. Basic Structure Of Any System 

 

All systems consist of three key components: 

 

฀ Inputs, 
 

฀ Processing And 
 

฀ Outputs. 
 

8.4. Inputs to financial systems 

 

Inputs comprise all the data entered into the system. Following the principle of garbage-in-

garbage- out (GIGO), the DVCFA must ensure that there are adequate controls over all inputs 

in order to secure the integrity of the system. All transactions must be properly authorized and 

supported, and a full audit trail maintained. 

 

The aim is to get inputs into the system “Right First Time” in order to maximize the 

department’s efficiency, as well as the reliability of the outputs. The key is therefore proper 

and complete transaction coding per the chart of accounts, relevant description, approval / 

authorization of entries, controlled access to the system, and an audit trail. 

 

Inputs may be manual (paper) entries such as a supplier invoice, or an electronic file from 

another system or spreadsheet. All manual inputs should be supported by the originating 

document, attached to the relevant accounting form. The form contains all coding information 

as well as approvals. 

 

The accounts assistants are responsible for the bulk of data capture, while the accountant and 

DVCFA are responsible for reviewing and validating the data. This may be done through 

reconciliations and exceptions reports, many of which can be automated. 

 

Types of input data: 

 

฀ Journal Entries 
 

฀ Supplier Invoices Bills 
 

฀ Payroll Entries 
 

฀ Payments 
 

฀ Disbursements 
 

Controls Over Inputs Include: 
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฀ Restricted Access To Systems 
 

฀ Restricted Access Within Systems 
 

฀ Signing Of Input Documentation To Ensure Conformity With Principles And Policies 
 

฀ Batch Controls Where Systems Are Being Interfaced 
 

8.5. Processing 

 

Processing is the core functionality of the system, and is the primary responsibility of the 

supplier. However, the DVCFA has an important role to play in systems administration, 

(including but not limited to backups, installing upgrades as provided by the supplier, 

controlling user access). The DVCFA must have a good understanding of the process controls 

and business rules of the system. 

 

Any change in requirements to processing must be channeled to the supplier (for common 

systems) or directly to the supplier (for local systems such as payroll). The DVCFA should 

not attempt to make processing changes himself / herself. 

 

System processing may be instantaneous on posting or uploading the transaction data, or may 

require manual intervention – for instance to approve a held journal, or initiate an export 

routine. 

 

The DVCFA can monitor the correct functionality of the system in a number of ways, 

including exception reports, audit trail reports, reconciliations etc.. In most systems, an error 

message appears at the time of transaction processing if there is a problem. Such errors must 

be resolved quickly to maintain the integrity of the system. 

 

8.6. Outputs 

 

Outputs consist of reports (printed or soft copy) and export files. This is the area where the 

user has most room for manoeuvre with most systems, since reports do not have any impact 

on the underlying data or processing. 

 

Export files can easily be integrated with other applications like microsoft excel or access for 

further analysis or formatting/presentation. 

 

Output files are more easily tailored to suit user requirements. In systems with powerful report 

writers, the user has a lot of flexibility to customise reports to meet specific requirements. 

Output files are also a key tool in exception reporting, enabling the user only to look at 
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Information which falls outside of certain criteria, thereby focusing on areas that require 

further investigation. 

 

Dvcfa should therefore have adequate controls in place to ensure that transactions are 

thoroughly reviewed and approved before they are entered into any of the financial systems. 

 

8.7 responsibility for financial systems 

 

The dvcfa is primarily responsible for the integrity, security and proper operations of the 

organization’s financial system, and plays the role of the systems administrator. The dvcfa 

may enlist the help of management information system (mis) in certain areas, such as network 

backups and setups on new machines. 

 

The dvcfa’s responsibility includes, but is not limited to: 

 

฀ Setting up of new users and deleting/restricting access for staff that have left 

employment with the organization. 
 

฀ Daily and periodic backups and offsite storage as required. 
 

฀ Installation of upgrades and patches 
 

฀ Training of new users on the system, and periodic/refresher training of all users 
 

฀ Day to day systems administration including troubleshooting and problem solving 
 

฀ Liaising with mis to ensure sufficient server space and server speed. 
 

฀ Controlling and reviewing all inputs to ensure data integrity. 
 

฀ Customising of locally required reports to ensure full but efficient utilisation of the 

system 
 

฀ Maintaining and updating of reference data. 
 

฀ Import and export routines, closing and opening of periods and other month-end 

routines. 
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CHAPTER NINE: BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS AND CASH 

MANAGEMENT  

9.1. purpose 

 

The purpose of the cash management system is to ensure that: 

 

฀ All receipts are accurately accounted for and banked intact; 
 

฀ All payments are properly verified and approved before payment is made; 
 

฀ All vouchers and supporting documentation are properly stamped “paid” immediately 

after payment is done; 
 

฀ There is adequate segregation of responsibilities; 
 

฀ All cash transactions are properly recorded in the general ledger system; 
 

฀ Bank and cash reconciliations are done on a timely basis; and 
 

9.2. responsibilities 

 

The VC has the overall responsibility for safeguarding the organization’s financial resources. 

He / she must ensure that: 

 

฀ The assistant updates the collections register promptly and posts and allocates the 

receipt to the general ledger, with proper matching against debtors. 
 

฀ The officers in charge of petty cash imprest floats maintain proper records, retain all 

expense vouchers and submit a properly supported and approved retirement prior to 

replenishment of the imprest. 
 

฀ The UoK’s cash resources are managed and controlled effectively to eliminate wastage 

or misuse, and to minimize bank overdraft charges. 
 

฀ All bank accounts are regularly reconciled and all outstanding items rigorously 

followed up. 
 

฀ Bank reconciliations must be completed at least monthly, but most are likely to require 

weekly reconciliations on the busier accounts. 
 
฀ Bank charges are carefully monitored to ensure that they are in line with agreed tariffs. 
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฀ Overdraft and loan terms and conditions are monitored and respected, and the 

organization fulfils its obligations to lenders. 
 

฀ A periodic cash position and rolling cash forecast will be in place to facilitate cash 

management and reporting. 
 

฀ Cash-in-transit and cash kept on the premises, particularly overnight and at weekends, 

is within the limits of the organization’s insured interest. 
 

฀ Cash reporting requirements are complied with and 
 

฀ Maintaining a positive relationship with the organization’s bankers and other financial 

institutions. 
 

9.3. Summary of the cash management system 

 

The main features of the system are: 

 

฀ The organization operates a number of bank accounts 
 

฀ Pre-numbered revenue receipt books will be adopted. A receipt must be issued for any 

cash, cheque, bank draft or telegraphic transfer (tt) received by the organization. 
 

฀ Receipts are prepared in duplicate, following the sequential numbering. The original 

receipt is given to the customer, while a copy is retained in the receipt book and is 

used as the source document to post the transaction to the accounting system. All 

relevant information pertaining to the receipt must be recorded – e.g. Invoice number, 

part payment, if the payment is net of vat or withholding tax etc.. 
 

฀ In the event that a receipt is spoiled or otherwise rendered invalid, it must be cancelled 

and retained securely in the receipt book. 
 

฀ The bank deposit slips must be completed in duplicate. Receipt numbers should be 

endorsed at the back of the duplicate copy of the respective bank pay in slip. 
 

฀ All receipts must be posted in the accounting system on the same working day. 
 

฀ The collections register must be updated immediately a receipt is issued. The dvcfa 

must have access to the collections register on a daily basis. 
 

฀ All cheque payments are made on the basis of properly approved and fully supported 

payment vouchers. The payment voucher must be stamped and dated with the paid 

stamp, and the cheque number recorded on the voucher. (all payment forms contain an 

entry field for the cheque number). Payment vouchers must be filed in sequential order 
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by cheque number. Cheque payments must be posted into the accounting system by 

the morning of the following working day. 
 

฀ Receipts must be obtained from suppliers and other third parties for all payments 

made. The receipts should be attached to the relevant payment voucher. 
฀ Where cash payments are made, the recipient must sign for the cash received in a 

permanent book, in indelible ink. 
 

฀ Petty cash payments are made on approved petty cash vouchers, which must be 

supported by receipts and/or other relevant documents. 
 

฀ Bank reconciliation statements must be prepared frequently. The active bank accounts 

should be reconciled at least once a week and the less active ones monthly. As a 

minimum, all accounts must be reconciled by the 5th of the subsequent month for 

balance sheet reporting purposes. 
 

฀ As part of the bank reconciliation process, it is also necessary to track the difference 

between cleared and un-cleared balances and establish the dates when un-cleared funds 

are expected to clear. Any undue delay in clearing of deposits must be followed up 

with the bank. 
 

฀ At periodic intervals, but at least quarterly, foreign exchange valuations on the bank 

balances must be carried out for both management and statutory reporting. 
 

9.4. security of cash and accountable documents 

 

The dvcfa is responsible for ensuring the safe custody of cash and all supporting documents. 

All cash value documents should be controlled effectively as regards printing, storage and 

issuing. Persons to whom such documents are issued must sign for them in the register 

maintained by the cashier / accounts assistant for this purpose. Pre-numbered documents must 

be issued and used in strict numerical sequence. Accountable documents include: 

 

฀ Cheques; 
 

฀ Payment vouchers; 
 

฀ Purchase orders; 
 

฀ Cash vouchers; 
 

฀ Materials requisition and issue note. 
 

It is the responsibility of the dvcfa to ensure that: 
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฀ Imprest floats in issue at any one time do not exceed the limits agreed 
 

฀ Safes utilized for the purposes of storing cash are secure; 
 

฀ He / she holds all duplicate keys to safes and maintains a register of all key holders; 
 

฀ All receipts are paid into the correct bank account; and 
 

฀ Any losses of keys or receipts (cash or cheque) are reported to the dvcfa and to the 

police immediately. 
 

9.5. receipts 

 

Main sources of revenue for UoK are tuition fees. 

 

Students make payments in either of the following ways: 

 

฀ Banking into the UoK’s bank accounts 
 

฀ Direct transfers into UoK bank accounts: in the case of direct bank transfers, UoK will 

receive a deposit advice from the bank to confirm receipt of the funds. The bank 

advice will be used to raise a receipt. 
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CHAPTER TEN: Petty cash policy 

 10.1. Purpose 

 

The purpose of the petty cash system is to ensure: 

 

฀ The maintenance of sufficient amount of float to meet small cash needs 
 

฀ Safe custody of petty cash funds 
 

฀ Adequate controls over petty cash held and petty cash payments made 
 

฀ Prompt and accurate processing, issuance, recording and accounting for petty cash. 
 

10.2. Introduction 

 

A petty cash float is to be maintained on an imprest basis. The imprest float is set at an 

amount specified by the dvcfa. The purpose of the petty cash float is to provide quick access 

to cash for payment of small office expenses that may be required on a day to day basis, such 

as taxi fares, postage, snacks for meetings, petrol for pool cars etc.. The UoK petty cash float 

is set at rwf 300,000. 

 

The assistant in charge of the imprest is responsible for ensuring that adequate funds are 

provided at all times by transfers from the bank account. An imprest float must be fully 

accounted for and approved by the appropriate section head before it can be replenished. 

 

Petty cash payments are made on approved, pre-numbered petty cash vouchers, which must be 

supported by receipts and/or other relevant documents. 

 

The petty cash retirement must contain all coding information (as for a receipt) to enable 

proper coding in the accounting system. Where petty cash expenses are incurred on behalf of 

clients (i.e. Disbursements) the customer code must be recorded on the voucher. 

 

10.3. Policy 

 

A petty cash float will be maintained to meet office expenses. UoK management has agreed 

the float amount of rwf 300,000 which will be monitored and revised, with approval of the 

dvcfa, when considered necessary. Any payments in excess of rwf 50,000 will be made by 

cheque. 
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Petty cash will be securely locked up in a safe. Adequate security measures should be put in 

place while transporting petty cash from the bank. 

 

The dvcfa will conduct surprise petty cash counts to ensure petty cash is safe, used as intended 

and accounted for correctly. The count sheet will be counter signed by both the cashier and the 

person conducting the count and dated. Any discrepancies noted will be reported immediately 

to the finance manager and the deputy vice chancellor administration and finance. 

 

10.4. Responsibility 

 

The dvcfa will have the following responsibilities: 

 

฀ Ensure that there are sufficient funds to meet operational requirements; 
 

฀ Ensure that all petty cash payments are proper and duly authorised in accordance with 

the approval mandate 
 

฀ Ensure that the amount of petty cash in hand agrees with book balances; 
 

฀ Stamp all paid vouchers and supporting documents with a "paid" stamp immediately 

after payment is made; 
 

฀ Submit an authorised and fully supported accountability to the finance department for 

reimbursement on a timely basis 
 

฀ Ensure safe custody of the petty cash at all times 
 

The finance manager will have the following responsibilities over petty cash: 

 

฀ Check petty cash vouchers and ensure that amounts shown are correctly cast and agreed 

with supporting documentation and have been duly authorised; 
 

฀ Ensure that the petty cash balance in the balance sheet is in accordance with the imprest 

limit set. 
 

10.5. Petty cash procedure 

 

The cashier in charge will prepare a request for advance, attach the previous retirement with 

all supporting documents such as receipts, invoices and vouchers, and obtain dvcfa’s approval. 

(ideally this should be before the float is exhausted, for instance when the balance falls below 

rwf 50,000). The approved retirement and request for reimbursement will then be submitted to 

the dvcfa. 
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In the finance department, the assistant responsible for payments will process the advance. A 

payment voucher will be made on the same day and withdraw cash from the bank. 

 

The payment voucher will be posted to accounting system on the same day. 

 

A payment voucher will be raised for the replenishment. The petty cash replenishment cheque 

should be reconciled to the petty cash expenditure. Any discrepancies noted should be 

investigated immediately and corrective action taken. 

 

Cash reconciliation procedures 

 

This will be conducted on a daily basis by the cashier supervised by the accountant who will 

ensure that it agrees to the daily balances. 

 

10.6. Payment procedures 

 

10.6.1. Cheque payments 

 

Cheque payments are used to settle obligations such as those to suppliers, statutory authorities 

and staff. 

Cheque payments are initiated by a payment voucher such as supplier invoice. 

 

The key principles relating to cheque payments are: 

 

฀ Cheque payments are made on the basis of duly authorised payment vouchers 

accompanied with respective supporting documents. 
 

฀ In order to smooth the workflow of the finance department, the dvcfa may schedule 

cheque payments only to be done on specific days, for example suppliers and staff may 

be paid at bi- monthly intervals. 
 

฀ Cheques must be signed by authorised signatories in accordance with the bank 

mandate. 
 

฀ Cheque signatories are responsible for reviewing all the supporting documents to 

satisfy themselves that the payment is lawful and that it has been processed properly. 
 

฀ Cheque signatories will not sign blank cheques under any circumstances. 
 

฀ Cash cheques must be opened when signing the cheques. 
 

฀ Most cheques will be delivered to or collected by suppliers and/or staff. The person 

receiving the cheque will sign for it in the register. Where possible and practicable the 

cheques will be deposited directly on the payee’s accounts. In the event that cheques 
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Are dispatched by post, the particulars of the cheque will be recorded in the dispatch 

register and dispatched to the payee by registered post. 

 

฀ Receipts must be obtained for all payments made, and attached to the payment voucher 
 

฀ The assistant will date-stamp all documents with a “paid” stamp on which both the 

date and cheque number are endorsed. 
 

฀ Summary information relating to each payment must be recorded in the chequebook 

register or counterfoil. 
 

฀ Spoiled or invalidated cheques must be clearly cancelled and the chequebook register 

updated to show that the cheques have not been used 
 

฀ The dvcfa must ensure safe custody of chequebooks at all times. 
 

฀ Used cheque books / stubs must be stored for the statutory period as required by the 

rwanda laws 
 

฀ Paid vouchers, together with supporting documents, are filed serially in paid cheque 

voucher files by the assistant. 
 

10.6.2. Cash payments 

 

The key principles relating to cash payments are largely similar to those governing cheque 

payments as outlined above. 

 

Cash payments are primarily made to provide staff with funds to cover travel expenses when 

going on assignments or travelling out of the country. Other cash payments should be kept to 

an absolute minimum to minimize the inherent risks of having cash on the premises. Staff 

salaries and supplier payments will not be made in cash. Staffs are expected to have bank 

accounts to which their salaries are transferred at the end of the month. 

 

The cash held on the premises must be within the limits of the insurance policy governing 

cash-in- transit and cash on the premises overnight or at weekends. The dvcfa should therefore 

ensure that cash withdrawn from the bank will be disbursed to the intended recipients on the 

same day. Any cash held overnight must be locked in a secure safe. 

 

As far as possible, staff expense or reimbursement claims should be settled by cheque or 

direct bank transfer. Very small claims however may have to be settled in cash for practical 

purposes. The petty cash float may be used for this purpose. 
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As with other payments, all vouchers must have supporting documents attached, and will be 

duly approved by the relevant head of section. Paid vouchers must be date-stamped and posted 

to the accounting system on the same working day. 

 

All cash disbursements must be signed for in the cash dispatch book by the individual 

collecting the cash. 

 

Bank mandates, authorized signatories and agents 

 

10.6.3. Bank mandate 

 

A bank mandate must be put in place. This governs the authorised signatories and approval 

limits on the bank accounts. The key principle is that all bank accounts will have at least two 

signatories. The signatories will be determined by the bop at the beginning of each budget 

year. 

 

Any changes to the bank mandate must be approved by the University Council and meeting 

minutes taken to record the resolution. Changes to the mandate must be communicated to the 

bank in writing. 

 

In the event of an authorised signatory leaving UoK, the banks must be notified immediately 

in writing. 

 

10.7. Authorised agents 

 

The organization must also have a list of appointed agents for the bank. These are officers of 

the organization who are authorised to carry out certain specified actions with the bank on 

behalf of the UoK. Such actions include, but are not limited to: 

 

฀ Collecting or receiving bank statements, credit advice slips and other banking 

correspondences 
 

฀ Withdrawing cash from the bank 
 

The DVCFA will approve the appointment of agents, in consultation with the VC and the 

University Council 

 

In the event an authorised agent leaves the organization, the bank must be notified 

immediately in writing. 
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 CHAPTER ELEVEN: STAFF IMPREST, CLAIMS AND MISSION 

ALLOWANCES POLICY 

 11.1. Introduction 

 

To describe the procedures and accounting treatment of imprest given to staff, imprest may be 

given to the UoK staff where it is found absolutely necessary, for example to finance travel 

expenses or purchase of important items where prices may not be known with certainty in 

advance. 

 

11.2. Procedures 

 

฀ All requests for imprest shall be made in writing to the dvcfa. The request shall show 

the purpose of the imprest and the estimated amount required. 
 

฀ Once the request is approved by dvcfa, an imprest voucher shall be prepared and 

addressed to the accountant for approval. The approval request for the imprest shall 

always be annexed to the imprest voucher. 
 

฀ If the amount of imprest required is more than rwf. 50,000, an open cheque shall be 

prepared in the name of the staff. Where the amount is less than rwf. 50,000 it shall be 

paid in cash. Whether the payment is by cheque or cash, the staff member will sign the 

payment voucher to acknowledge the receipt of the money. 
 

฀ All imprest shall be accounted for to the accountant by producing the necessary 

invoices and receipts within a reasonable time, depending on the circumstances of each 

case under which the imprest is given. 
 

฀ Whenever imprest shall be given to a staff member his/her personal account shall be 

debited with the corresponding credit entry in cash or bank account. 
 

฀ When the staff member accounts for the imprest given, his/her account shall be 

credited to cancel the original debit entry and the corresponding debit will be in the 

appropriate expense/asset account. 
฀ No additional imprest shall be given to a staff member before a previous imprest is 

fully accounted for. 
 

฀ Unless there are justifiable reasons for holding on imprest for more than one month, 

imprest not accounted for within one month after the month it was given shall be 

recovered from the employees’ salary in equal instalments. The accountant shall 

authorize the recovery from employee’s salary 
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11.3. Other claims 

 

Travel and mileage 

 

University policy on official travel requires that university transport be used for official duties 

whenever possible but where transport is not available; a member staff may claim 

reimbursement for use of his/her personal vehicle upon provision of proof of payment. The 

reimbursement Shall Be Based On The Official Rates For All Approved 
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CHAPTERTWELVE: AYROLLPROCEDURES 

 12.1. Purpose 

 

This Section Describes The System And Procedures To Be Followed And Documentation To 

Be Used In Preparing And Analyzing The UOK’s Monthly Payroll. Payroll Transactions 

Include: Salaries (Including Advances); Allowances; Loans; Processing Of Joiners; And 

Leavers. 

 

The Purpose Of The Payroll System Is To Ensure: 

 

฀ Complete And Accurate Data Capture And Payroll Processing 
 

฀ Production Of All Required Reports In A Timely Manner 
 

฀ Employees Are Paid In Accordance With Letters Of Appointment And Any 

Revisions Thereafter Are Adequately Documented. 
 

฀ There Is Adequate Security Over Payroll Data 
 

฀ Statutory And Voluntary Deductions Are Properly Calculated Accounted For And 

Remitted To The Appropriate Authorities Timely. 
 

12.2. Policy 

 

The UOK Will Issue Appointment Letters To All Newly Employed Staff And The Payroll 

Processing Will Be In Line With The Terms And Conditions Of Service Of Each Category Of 

Staff. 

 

The Finance Department Will Not Make Payroll Changes Without The Express Authority Of 

The DAHR. 

 

Tax Will Be Deducted On All Taxable Pay In Accordance With Relevant Tax Law. 

 

 

The UOK Will Comply With Local Labour Laws, Regulations Governing Employment And 

Provisions Of Specific Employment Contracts. 

 

To Avoid The Risk Inherent In Carrying Large Sums Of Money And Minimize The Risk Of 

Loss Of Payroll Frauds, All Staff Will Be Required To Operate Bank Accounts Through 

Which Their Salaries Will Be Paid. 

 

The Payroll Will Be Prepared On A Monthly Basis By The Accountant. 
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The Deputy Vice Chancellor Administration And Finance Will Ensure That This Is Prepared 

By The 25th Of Every Month. The Payroll Will Be Reviewed By The FINANCE MANAGER 

And Approved By DAHR. Once Approved, They Will Be Forwarded To The DVCFA For 

Authorization Of Payments. Salary Bank Transfer Instructions And The Payment Order Will 

Be Forwarded To The Bank To Ensure Salaries Are Credited To Employee Bank Accounts 

Before The End Of The Month. 

 

12.3. Summary Of The System 

 

The Main Features Of The System Are As Follows: 

 

฀ The Accountant Prepares The Payroll. All Approved Amendments To The Payroll 

Must Be Received By The FINANCE MANAGER By The 25th Of Every Month To 

Ensure Processing In The Same Month; 
 

฀ The FINANCE MANAGER Will Review The Staff Expense Account Aged Analysis 

Report And Identify Overdue Advances Which Are To Be Recovered From Payroll. 
 

฀ The FINANCE MANAGER Will Review Staff Loan Account Balances And Ensure 

That Recoveries Are Made From Payroll In Accordance With Agreed Principles. 
 

฀ The Payroll Is Closed On 25th Of The Month, And The Payroll Signed Off By The 

Human Resources Manager And DVCFA. The Head Of Payroll Will Compile A 

Monthly Payroll File With All Supporting Documents For Payroll Entries, And 

Reconciliation Schedules To Show Movements From Prior To Current Month On Key 

Fields Such As Basic Pay; 
 

฀ Payment Of Salaries To Staff Is By Means Of Direct Transfer To Their Bank 

Accounts. 
 

฀ Cash Payments For Payroll Are Strongly Discouraged. All Employees Are Required 

To Maintain A Bank Account Into Which Their Salaries Are Paid; In Exceptional 

Circumstances Where Some Employees (Such As Temporary Or Casual Staff) Are 

Paid In Cash Or By Cheque, They Are Required To Sign For Their Salary In A Payroll 

Dispatch Book Maintained By The Human Resource; 
 

฀ Pay Slips Must Be Issued To Staff No Later Than The Last Working Day Of The 

Month. Staff Must Also Be Given Loans And Staff Account Statements Together With 

Their Payslips; 
 

฀ All Statutory Deductions And Contributions Should Be Accounted For And Recorded. 

The DVCFA Must Ensure That The Payroll System Is Capable Of Processing All 

Statutory Requirements, And Producing The Necessary Monthly / Quarterly / Annual 

Returns; 
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฀ The Accountant Will Upload The Payroll Journal To The Accounting System By The 

Last Working Day Of The Month. This Is Necessary To Allow Sufficient Time For 

The Following Routines To Be Completed: 
 

฀ Update Of Cumulative Payroll. 
 

฀ Account Allocation Of Staff Loan Accounts And Preparation Of Month-End Staff 

Loan Report For Balance Sheet. 
 

฀ Account Allocation Of Staff Expense Accounts. 
 

฀ Account Allocation The Salaries Control Accounts (Net Pay Control, Health & Social 

Contributions Control Accounts) And Preparation Of Month-End Schedules For 

Balance Sheet. 
 

12.4. Payment Of Lecturers 

 

฀ Full-Time Lecturers Are Paid On Monthly Basis In Arrears. 
 

฀ All Remuneration Paid To Full Time Lecturers Is Subject To Statutory Deductions 

(I.E. PAYE, NSSF, Etc.) And Calculated In Accordance With The National Taxation 

Laws In Force. 
 

฀ Part-Time Lecturers Are Paid Based On Actual Hours Taught. It Is The Number Of 

Hours Taught Multiplied By The Rate Per Hour. Claims Are Made On Time Sheets 

Which Must Be Checked By The Accountant, Verified By The FINANCE 

MANAGER And Approved By The DVCFA. 
 

฀ Remuneration Of Part-Time Lecturers Is Subject To Statutory Deductions Calculated 

In Accordance With The National Taxation Laws In Force. 
 

฀ All Salaries Are Paid On Payrolls Which Are Prepared By The Accountant And 

Approved By DVCFA. 
 

฀ No Salary Is Paid In Cash But Directly Through The Individual’s Bank Account 
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN: STAFF LOANS AND ADVANCES POLICY 

13.1. Introduction 

 

The General Policy Is That Loans Or Salary Advances Will Not Be Issued To Staff. 

 

The UoK Will Only Approve Salary Advance In Case Of Utmost Emergency. This Shall Be 

Applied For In Writing And Approved By The Deputy Vice Chancellor Administration And 

Finance (DVCFA). 

 

The Amount Of Salary Advanced Shall Not Exceed 2 Times Of The Net Salary Of The 

Member Of Staff. It Shall Be Repayable Within A Maximum Of 6 Months. The Amount 

Deducted Each Month Should Not Exceed 1/3 Of The Net Salary. 

 

The Procedures For Obtaining A Salary Advance Shall Be As Follows: 

 

i. The Request For A Salary Advance Should Be First Approved By His Or Her 

Immediate Supervisor. 

 

ii. The Employee Who Wishes To Apply For A Salary Advance Shall Then Write A 

Request Letter Or Fill A Request Form To The Deputy Vice Chancellor Administration And 

Finance (DVCFA). Once Approved, It Will Be Sent To The Finance Department For 

Payment. 

 

iii. After An Advance Has Been Paid, The Equivalent Amount Will Be Recovered In Equal 

Instalment Throughout The Period Stipulated In The Approved Request Letter. This Will Be 

Subject To A Maximum Repayment Period Of 6 Months. 

 

13.2. Loans From Financial Institutions 

 

The UoK May Agree To Facilitate Personal Loans For Staff With Reputable Financial 

Institutions Such As Banks And Leasing Companies. 

 

The UoK Will Not Guarantee Such Loans, But Will Assist The Employees By: 

 

• Recommending Them To The Institutions By Signing Salary Assignment Form 

 

• Remitting Salaries To The Designated Accounts And; 
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• Notifying The Institution (Lender) When The Staff Member Leaves The Organization 
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN: ACCOUNTING FOR ACCRUALS AND 

PREPAYMENTS PROCEDURE  

14.1. Purpose 

 

This Section Describes The System And Procedures To Be Followed And The Documentation 

To Be Used In Calculating And Accounting For Accruals And Prepayments At The End Of 

Each Financial Period. 

 

14.2. Responsibilities 

 

The DVCFA Is Responsible For: 

 

• Carrying Out A Full Analytical Review Of The Accounts To Ensure That Any Prepaid 

Transactions Have Been Properly Accounted For, And All Material Accruals Are 

Posted; 

• Advising The Accountant And Subordinate Staff On The Computation Of Accruals 

Required In The Period. 

 

• Ensuring That Accruals Are Duly Reversed When The Respective Expenses Are 

Approved And Posted 

 

• Reviewing And Signing Off The Month End Accruals Schedule To Confirm That All 

Balances Carried Forward Are Valid 

• Reviewing The Prepayments Schedule And Ensuring That All Charges Which Relate 

To The Current Month Are Posted 

 

• Reviewing And Signing Off The Prepayments Schedule For The Balance Sheet File, 

Ensuring That All Balances Carried Forward Are Valid And The Timing Of Transfers 

From Prepayments To Profit &Loss Account Is Clearly Shown 

 

• Ensuring That Account Allocation Is Maintained In The Accounting System To Match 

Entries Which Cancel Out, Facilitating Analysis Of The Closing Balances 

 

14.3. Procedures For Accruals 

 

The DVCFA Should At The End Of The Financial Period Examine The Organization’s 

Records To Establish Goods Or Services Received During The Period, For Which No Charge 

Has Been Received From The Supplier (Invoices Not Submitted) Or No Accounting Action 

Taken (Invoices Received But Not Yet Approved). Examples Include Telephone Calls, 

Utilities, Bank Interest For Which The Supplier Submits Invoices In Arrears. 
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- For Goods Or Services Procured By Use Of Lpos, Where The Invoice Has Not Yet 

Been Received, The DVCFA Should Review Unmatched Lpos And Use These As A Basis 

For Accrual Of Material Amounts; 

 

- For Costs Where Invoices Have Been Received But Not Yet Approved, The DVCFA 

Should Review The Commitment Account And Accrue For Material Amounts; 

 

- For Costs Incurred Under Contract Such As Telephone Calls, Electricity, Bank Interest, 

The DVCFA Should Accrue For Material Amounts Based On His / Her Knowledge And 

Experience On The Typical Costs Incurred; 

 

The Accrual Journals Should Be Supported By Workings And Supported Documents For 

Reference. No Standard Working Papers Are To Be Used Because Of The Varying Nature 

And Timing Of The Different Expenses Accrued. Accruals Should Be Maintained As 

Permanent Records For The Adjustments Made In Each Period. 

 

It Is Recommended That A Reversing Journal Is Used For Posting Accruals. The Accounting 

Entry For Accruals Will Take The Format: 

 

For Ease Of Reporting And Analysis, The DVCFA May Set Up Different Accrual Accounts 

For Key Categories Of Regularly Accrued Expenses For Example: 

• Leave Accruals 

 

• Bonus Accruals 

 

• Telephone Accruals 

 

• Bank Interest Accrued 

 

14.4. Procedures For Prepayments 

 

There Are Certain Expenses Which Are Normally Paid In Advance, E.G. Rent, Insurance 

Premiums, Software Licenses, For Which The Organization Will Only Receive The Benefit 

Or Make Use Of In Future Financial Periods. These May Be Monthly, Quarterly, Bi-Annual 

Or Annual Instalments. 

 

Amounts That Are Prepaid Should Be Identified During Invoice Processing. If Any Amounts 

Are Identified As Prepayments During Invoice Processing, The Accountant Will Immediately 

Update The Prepayments Balance Sheet Schedule. 
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The DVCFA Will Review All P&L Transactions, And Also The Prepayments Schedule For 

The Month To Ensure That All Prepaid Instalments Relating The Current Month Have Been 

Posted To The P&L. The DVCFA Will Also Check That No Prepaid Expenses Have Been 

Debited In Full To The P&L. In Such Circumstances, A Journal Must Be Passed To Transfer 

The Prepaid Portion To The Prepayments Account, And The Balance Sheet Schedule 

Updated. 

 

14.5. Exchange Differences In Relation To Accruals And Prepayments 

 

The DVCFA Should Be Mindful Of Exchange Differences When Processing Accruals Or 

Prepayments Which Are Denominated In A Foreign Currency. It Is Important To Ensure That 

On Clearing The Balance To The P&L, The Balance Sheet Entry Is Fully Reversed In Both 

Base And Foreign Currency. 

 

Exchange Differences Are More Likely To Arise On Prepayments Rather Than Accruals, 

Since Accruals Are Revisited Each Month And Posted At The Current Month Rates. However 

The DVCFA Must Review Both Accounts At Each Quarter End To Ensure That Balances Are 

Carried At The Correct Values Both In Local And Foreign Currency. 

 

Realized Exchange Differences 

 

 

In Order To Avoid The Build Up Of Unnecessary Exchange Differences, It Is Recommended 

That The Rate At Which The Prepayments Are Transferred To The P&L Is Fixed At The Rate 

Ruling At Transaction Date, And Used Consistently On All Reversals. However Where The 

Exchange Rate Is Fluctuating Significantly, And The Prepayment Period Is Long (E.G. More 

Than 3 Months) The Accountant May Agree With The DVCFA To Use Current Rates. In This 

Case, An Exchange Difference Will Arise In Local Currency. This Must Be Cleared From 

The Prepayments Account And Posted To The Realised. 

 

Any Residual Exchange Difference Must Be Posted To The Realised Exchange Difference. 

Any Residual Exchange Difference Must Be Computed And Posted To The Realised 

Exchange Difference Account In The P&L. 

 

Unrealised Exchange Differences 

 

 

At Quarter End, The DVCFA Is Required To Compute Unrealised Exchange Differences On 

Foreign Currency Denominated Balances By Comparing The Local Currency Equivalent In 

The 
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System (Which Is At Historic Rate) With The Local Currency Equivalent At The Quarter End 

Closing Rate. Any Material Exchange Differences Should Be Posted To The Unrealised 

Exchange Difference Account In The P&L 

 

When The Balance Finally Clears, The Associated Exchange Difference Will Become 

Realised. 
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CHAPTER FIFTEEN: FIXED ASSETS RECORDS AND 

MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE 

 15.1. Objective 

 

To Identify The Capital Expenditure That Constitutes Fixed Asset And Highlight The 

Procedures Of Managing And Recording Fixed Assets. 

 

15.2. Definition Of Fixed Asset 

 

Fixed Assets Shall Be Defined As Resources Of The UoK With The Following Distinguishing 

Features: 

 

• Acquired For Use In The University And Are Not For Resale; 

 

• Have Estimated Useful Life Of More Than One Year; And 

 

All Material Resources Which Satisfy The Above Criteria Shall Be Classified As Fixed Assets 

Of The Institute. All Donations Of Fixed Assets To The UOK Shall Be Given A Monetary 

Value And Included In The Books Of Accounts Of The Institute. 

 

15.3. Procedures For Acquisition, Maintenance & Disposal Of Fixed Assets. 

 

Acquisition Of Fixed Assets: 

 

• All Purchases Of Fixed Assets Must Be proposed By Management and presented to the 

University Council for approval.  

 

• The Purchase Of Fixed Assets Shall Follow The Established Procurement Procedures. 

 

• A Fixed Asset Shall Be Purchased Only When The Provision For Its Purchase Is In The 

Institute’s Budget. 

 

• Fixed Assets Acquired Through Donations Shall Be Brought Into The Fixed Assets’ 

Record At 

 

Cost. 

 

• Expensive Or Highly Specialized Items Of Fixed Assets Shall Be Supplied With 

Performance Guarantee Or Warranty Agreements For A Period Of Not Less Than One 

Year. 
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• The Technical Specifications And The Fixed Asset Capacity Shall Be Part Of The 

Supply Agreement And It Is On The Basis Of The Specifications That The Performance 

Guarantee Shall Be Given. 
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15.4. Fixed Asset Identification Number (Tagging) 

 

฀ Each Fixed Asset Of The UOK Shall Be Given A Unique Identification Number And 

It Shall Be Indicated On A Label, Which Shall Be Fixed On Each Fixed Asset. 
 

฀ Fixed Assets In Each Office Shall Be Listed And The List Shall Be Fixed In A Clearly 

Visible Place Within That Office. 
 

฀ Transfers Between Offices Shall Be Made Only On Authorized Transfer Forms And 

The Fixed Assets Record In Each Office Shall Be Appropriately Adjusted. The 

Accountant Shall Keep A Copy Of The Fixed Assets’ Register Showing How The 

Fixed Assets Are Distributed Within The Different Departments And Offices Of UOK. 
 

15.5. Fixed Asset Register 

 

All The Fixed Assets Of The Institute Shall Be Recorded In A Fixed Asset Register. The 

Fixed Asset Register Shall Have The Following Information About The Fixed Assets: 

 

฀ The Fixed Asset Description. 
 

฀ Manufacturer’s Serial Number. 
 

฀ The Name Of The Supplier/Manufacturer. 
 

฀ The Cost Of The Item. 
 

฀ The Date Of Acquisition. 
 

฀ Location Of The Item. 
 

฀ Internal Identification Number. 
 

฀ The Name Of The Supplier. 
 

฀ The Depreciation Rate. 
 

The Fixed Asset Register Must Be Updated with Acquisitions And Disposals. 
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15.6. Physical Count Of Fixed Assets 

 

The UOK’s Fixed Assets Shall Be Physically Counted At Least Once In A Year. 

 

The Physical Count Results Shall Be Compared With The Records And Any Discrepancies 

Found Shall Be Investigated And Be Resolved. 

The Physical Count Exercise Shall Produce A Report On The Physical Condition Of Each 

Fixed Asset, Highlighting Those That Have Experienced Unusual Events Like Major 

Accidents Or Those That Were Transferred Or Exchanged During The Year. 
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15.7. Insurance of fixed assets 

 

All the fixed assets of the institute shall be insured against possible risks. 

In the circumstances, management shall make a decision on the appropriate insurance policies 

to be taken. 

It shall be the responsibility of the dvcfa to negotiate fair insurance covers for the UoK’s fixed 

assets. 

It shall be the responsibility of dvcfa to ensure that the insurance premiums are paid in time 

and that they are properly treated in the accounts. 

The dvcfa shall ensure that the necessary prerequisites for lodging a successful insurance 

claims are put in place. 

 

15.8. Fixed assets repairs and maintenance 

 

The repairs and maintenance is the responsibility of the assets officer. 

 

Service contracts with reputable companies must be undertaken to ensure that the equipment 

of the UoK is properly maintained. 

The logistics officer must keep the minimum service parts for the equipment in the stores. 

 

Proper control measures of fixed assets use shall be put in place to ensure that the repair and 

maintenance costs are kept at a minimum. Measures such as the use of logbooks to monitor 

the movement of vehicles, use of register books to record personal use of office facilities such 

as telephone, photocopiers, internet, and fax machines. If the use of these facilities is not 

properly controlled, the costs of repairs and maintenance can exorbitantly be high. Where it is 

necessary that the staff use the facilities for both official and private work, a system shall be 

designed to be able to distinguish private use and official use of the facility. Management shall 

set limits of expenditures for reimbursement to staff that are authorized to use the facilities for 

both the private and official use. 

 

15.9. Depreciation 

 

It is the allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its estimated useful life. The 

fixed assets of the UoK shall be depreciated on a straight line method and on the basis of the 

time they have been owned by the UoK, but ownership for periods of less than one month 

shall be ignored in calculations of monthly or annual depreciation charges. Different 

 

 



  

74 

Depreciation rates shall be applied in calculating depreciation for the different classes of fixed 

assets owned by the UoK. The following depreciation rates, which are in line with the 

provisions of the rwandan law, shall be applied. 

 

Class of fixed assets Depreciation rate 

1. Motor vehicles  25% 

2. Computers, software and accessories 50% 

3. Office equipment  25% 

4. Office furniture and fittings  25% 

5. Buildings  5% 

 

15.10. Loss, damage or theft of the fixed assets 

 

The loss, damage or theft of a fixed asset shall be reported to the assets officer who will carry 

out investigation to establish how the fixed asset was damaged, lost or stolen. If the asset 

cannot be recovered it shall be reported to the accountant who shall then report to the finance 

manager and dvcfa. 

 

The dvcfa shall make a report of the loss to the police and shall keep a copy of the report on 

file and update the report with any police findings. 

 

In some cases like the damage or loss of vehicle, it shall be necessary that a report is made to 

police as soon as possible, in which case the driver of the vehicle at the time of the incident 

shall make the report to police and to the dvcfa. 

 

Fixed assets lost shall be removed from the fixed assets register and the loss on disposal shall 

be calculated after taking into account any recoveries from the insurance companies. 

 

The dvcfa shall immediately take the necessary steps to get compensation for the asset lost, 

damaged or stolen, from insurance company. 
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15.11. procedure of disposing of the fixed assets 

 

The VC shall authorize the fixed assets disposal in writing. 

 

The management shall write to the university council seeking authority to dispose one or 

several fixed assets of UoK. The request shall include reasons why the fixed assets have to be 

disposed of, and the preferred method of disposal. 

 

The reserve price of the fixed asset to be disposed of shall be based on valuation of the fixed 

asset given by a relevant professional person. 

 

The proceeds of the fixed asset disposal shall be received on sale by a certified cheque drawn 

in favour of the UoK. 

The dvcfa shall calculate and report in the accounts of the year the disposal takes place the 

profit or loss on the disposal. 

 



  

76 

CHAPTER SIXTEEN: ACCOUNTING FOR OFFICE CONSUMABLES  

16.1.Purpose 

 

The Purpose Of This Section Is To Describe The System And Procedures To Be Followed 

And Documentation To Be Used To Account For And Control Of Office Consumables. These 

Primarily Include Printing & Photocopying Telephones & Fax Costs And Pool Vehicle Costs. 

This Section Primarily Describes The Process In So Far As It Affects The Finance 

Department. 

 

16.2.Responsibilities 

 

The FINANCE MANAGER Is Responsible For: 

 

฀ Maintaining Safe Custody Of The Infrastructure E.G. Photocopiers, Switchboard, 

Vehicles; 
 

฀ Ensuring That Maintenance And Service Contracts With Reputable Suppliers Are In 

Place 
 

฀ Maintaining Operating Systems, Whether Manual Or Electronic. Examples Include 

The Switchboard Software, Photocopying Software, Printing Software, Vehicle 

Mileage Log. 
 

฀ Preparing The Budgets For Consumables For All Sections And Support Departments; 
 

The DVCFA Is Responsible For: 

 

฀ Ensuring That Accountabilities Are Received For Office Consumables; 
 

฀ Reviewing The Office Consumables Budgets For Reasonableness; 
 

฀ Recovering Personal Costs From Payroll At Month End; 
 

16.3. Summary Of The System 

 

The Costs Are Incurred In Different Ways As Follows: 

 

฀ Pool Vehicle Costs Comprise Primarily Fuel, Maintenance, Parking And Insurance 

Charges. These Are Debited To The Motor Vehicle Accounts. 
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฀ Printing And Photocopying Costs Consist Mainly Of Paper And Toner, As Well As 

Maintenance. At Invoice Authorization, The Costs Are Debited To Stationery 

Account. 
 

฀ Telephone And Fax Costs Are The Costs Incurred Are Debited To Telephone 

Account. 
 

The Journal Entries To Record The Costs Will Typically Be: 

 

Debit: Expense Account (Stationery, Telephone, Vehicle Etc.); 

 

Credit: Cash 
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CHAPTER SEVENTEEN: COMPLIANCE MATTERS-TAXES AND 

STATUTORY RETURNS  

17.1.Purpose 

 

The Organization Is Required To Comply With All Local Statutory And Regulatory Laws. 

This Section Describes The Main Principles To Be Followed To Ensure Compliance. 

 

17.2. Responsibilities 

 

The DVCFA Is Responsible For: 

 

• Ensuring Total Compliance With All Regulations, And That The Organization Is Not 

Subjected To Any Penalties Or Embarrassment For Non-Compliance 

 

• All Returns Are Filed And Payments Made By The Due Dates As Required By The 

Rwanda 

 

Laws 

 

• Organizing Tax Health Checks On All Areas –Payroll Taxes, Withholding (And Other 

Indirect Taxes), Income Tax – At Least Once A Year 

 

• Reviewing All Transactions To Ensure Compliance Prior To Processing In The 

Accounting Systems 

• Keeping Abreast Of New Developments Through Constant Liaison With The TAX 

Department, And Ensuring The Finance Team Is Kept Well Educated On Regulatory 

Requirements And Changes 

 

• Ensuring That Where Tax Is Withheld On Invoices 

 

 

The Accountants Are Responsible For 

 

฀ Checking Accuracy Of Tax Computations 
 

฀ Ensuring All Taxable Payments Are Captured In The Tax Computations 
 

฀ Ensuring That Taxes Are Prepared And Paid Within Set Timelines As Below: 
 

OPAYE By 10th Of The Following Month 

 
OWithholding Taxes By10th Of The Following Month 
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O Quarterly Corporate Income Tax By 15th Of The Due 

Quarter O Corporate Income Tax By 28th February Of The 

Following Year 

฀ Ensuring That They Review All Transactions For Statutory Compliance Prior To 

Processing.
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Chapter eighteen: Reporting.  

18.1 purpose 

 

The UoK requires accurate financial information that will assist management in:- 

 

฀ Developing policies and planning the future operations; 
 

฀ Making informed and effective decisions on the allocation of resources; 
 

฀ Measuring the performance of the organization; and 
 

฀ Controlling and monitoring the operations. 
 

This section sets out the requirements and processes for preparing the management reports. 

 

18.2 objectives 

 

This section describes the minimum procedures to be followed in preparing routine monthly 

and year-end financial reports. The reporting procedures are meant to improve the level of 

management information system (mis) by ensuring that the resulting information is relevant, 

reliable, and timely. 

 

The cashbook is the primary source of the UoK’s financial information. To achieve any 

meaningful reporting levels, the cashbook should be updated regularly, preferably on daily 

basis with all financial transactions that have occurred. Further, it is imperative that the data 

inputted in the computer system is subjected to prior and post review procedures to minimize 

errors and omissions. 

 

It shall be the responsibility of the dvcfa to ensure that routine, monthly, quarterly, and year-

end financial reports are prepared and presented within the stipulated deadlines. The rector 

will always review and approve the reports prior to forwarding them. 

 

The objective of any management information system is to provide:- 

 

฀ Useful and meaningful information to the recipient that will assist them in performing 

their duties more effectively; 
 

฀ Relevant information for decision making; 
 

฀ Timely information; and 
 

฀ Accurate information to an acceptable level. 
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18.3 basic routines 

 

The following are the basic routines: 

 

฀ Preparation of weekly/monthly financial reports. 
 

฀ Weekly/monthly cash flow status reports or cash requirements report. 
 

฀ Accounts payable ageing, including commitments. 
 

฀ Accounts receivable ageing 
 

฀ Bank reconciliation and review of the cash books. 
 

฀ Petty cash reconciliation 
 

฀ Payroll creditors’ reconciliation. 
 

฀ Preparation of cumulative imprest, with number of days the imprest has been 

outstanding 
 

฀ Preparation of journal entries/vouchers 
 

฀ Review of ledger balances and control accounts 
 

฀ Preparation of supporting schedules 
 

฀ Cut off procedures. 
 

฀ Prepayments 
 

฀ Accruals 
 

฀ Extraction of a trial balance 
 

฀ Preparation of monthly/annual variances against budget 
 

฀ Income and expenditure account. 
 

฀ Balance sheet. 
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฀ Preparation and submission of income tax returns in respect to pay as you earn. 

(p.a.y.e). 
 

18.4 monthly procedures 

 

The following are the monthly procedures. These procedures should be completed within 10 

working days after the end of month. 

 

Reconciliations 

 

฀ Preparation of reconciliation statements for all the bank accounts 
 

฀ Preparation of the petty cash reconciliation and review petty cashbook 
 

฀ Reconciliation/analysis of other cashbook accounts, including any suspense accounts 
 

฀ Expenditure ledger reconciliations 
 

฀ Reports 
 

฀ Budget execution report 
 

฀ Monthly stock returns 
 

฀ Monthly fuel consumption reports 
 

฀ Debtors and creditors reports 
 

฀ Any other report or management information that be may requested. 
 

18.5. Monthly management accounts 

 

Monthly management accounts are prepared and reviewed by management. The management 

accounts comprise the following separate but linked reports: 

 

Financial reports: - typically comprising the balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow 

statement. The statements shall show the comparison of actual and budgeted figures, and 

explanations for the major variances. These statements are supplemented by an overview 

(notes to the accounts) highlighting the key matters in the financial performance of the month. 

 

The analysis of key performance statistics (kpis) for the month: for example the number of 

students per semester in comparison with the estimate, and key financial ratios. The statistical 

analysis shall show a rolling trend over several consecutive months, preferably twelve months. 
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The determination of the various kpis, which is outside the scope of this manual, would have 

been done during the business planning and budgeting session. 

 

Primarily, the monthly management accounts provide necessary information to determine 

whether: 

 

฀ The financial performance is on track. This facilitates timely identification of deviations 

from plans, budget variances, and determination of remedial actions. 
 

฀ The expenditures are keeping within budget or the extent of necessary revisions to be 

made to ensure achievement of the original performance objectives and targets. 
 

฀ The non-financial kpis provide corroborative evidence to give assurance that the reported 

expenditures are consistent with the underlying activities. 
 

It is the responsibility of the accountant to ensure that the monthly management accounts are 

ready for review by the 15th day after the end of the month being reported. The monthly 

management accounts are distributed to the dof and heads of department. It is expected that a 

dedicated meeting would be held every month to discuss the management accounts. 

 

18.6. Quarterly and year-end procedures 

 

Quarterly procedures will be completed within 30 working days after the end of each quarter. 

Year-end – to be completed within 30 working days after the end of the year 

i. Submission to university council the quarterly budget execution report 

 

ii. Preparation of quarterly financial statements (receipts & expenditure statement) 

 

iii. Preparation of the report on outstanding commitments report (arrears report) 

 

iv. Any other report or management information that may be required. 

 

18.7. Annual financial statements 

 

At the close of the financial year, the dvcfa has the responsibility to: 

 

฀ Prepare financial statements comprising a balance sheet as at the last day of the year, an 
 

Income statement for the year ended, a cash flow statement, and the supplementary notes 

explaining the major issues in the statements. 

 Ensure that those financial statements have been audited. The audited financial 

statements must be presented to the university council for discussion and approval. 
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18.9. Profit tax declaration and remittance 

 

The UoK is subject to taxation on any surplus income from its operations. Surplus is the 

excess of income over operating expenses. The tax declaration is made on a specific form 

prescribed by the rra, which shall be accompanied by audited financial statements. The 

declaration is merely management’s reasonable estimate of the tax liability subject to audit 

and final assessment by the rra. In practice, the ultimate tax payable varies with the amount 

declared. It is recommended that continued contact and advice regarding tax management 

should be obtained from rra. 

 

18.10. Annual report 

 

The UoK shall prepare an annual report for each year. The annual report shall be completed 

by 31st march. 

 

It is the responsibility of dvcfa, in conjunction with the heads of department and the 

accountant to ensure that the report is prepared by this date. The university council shall 

determine the format and content of the annual report. At a minimum, it shall contain the 

following sections:  

 

฀ Report by the vc 
 

฀ Financial report, including audited accounts; 
 

฀ Operational/technical report 
 

฀ Budget variance analysis and explanations – financial and operations 
 

฀ Highlights of the current year’s budget; and 
 

฀ Vi.any pertinent issues deemed necessary 
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Chapter nineteen: audit of financial statements 

 

19.1 objectives 

 

By law, it is statutory that the accounts of the UoK be audited by external auditors. An audit is 

routine and is not an investigation for wrong doing. It is intended to enhance credibility of the 

financial statements and to offer corrective criticism and advice. To be well prepared, the 

management of the UoK should be aware of the scope of the audit, which is summarized as 

follows: 

 

฀ To obtain sufficient evidence to be able to confirm whether the financial 

statements show a true and fair view of the affairs of the UoK – in other words 

whether, in material respects, those statements are complete, accurate, and 

truthful. 
 

฀ To assess the adequacy of accounting and internal control systems at the UoK. 
 

฀ To establish whether the assets of the UoK are adequately safeguarded from 

misuse or loss. 
 

฀ To establish whether in its operational activities, the UoK complies with the 

relevant laws and regulations such as those regarding expenditure management, 

taxation, and procurements. 
฀ To establish whether the management of the UoK conducted its affairs with 

economy and operational efficiency. 
 

In the event that the auditor has been satisfied with the evidence obtained on the financial 

statements, the auditor will affirm that those financial statements show a true and fair view of 

the affairs of the UoK. However, in the event that the auditor has some reservations on any 

key matter in the financial statements, those reservations would be stated in the audit report on 

those financial statements. The timing of the audit shall be negotiated with the statutory 

auditors and it is necessary that audited financial statements are available by no later than 30th 

April to enable submission of the profit tax declaration within the statutory deadline of 30th 

June. 
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19.2. Financial audit 

 

The law requires that the UoK have its accounts audited by the external auditor annually. An 

audit report shall be submitted to the university council not later than six months after each 

financial year.  

 

The management shall ensure that financial statements together with the supporting schedules 

shall be ready in good time, giving auditors adequate time in which to conduct and complete 

the audit. The auditor shall produce a draft audit report and present it to the rector who shall 

formally respond to issues raised before a final report is produced. The formal response shall 

be copied to the university council. 

 

The auditor shall complete and issue the audit report by 30th june of the following year. A 

copy of the audit report shall be submitted to the finance department any comments arising 

there from shall be addressed to the university council. Internal control issues that the 

independent auditors may come across during their audits shall be communicated to the 

university council by way of a management letter. 

 

The dvcfa shall ensure that the audit observations and recommendations are implemented, or 

otherwise dispensed before the next audit. Note: the preparation and presentation of financial 

statements are the responsibility of the UoK’s management. The external auditors shall only 

be responsible for expressing an independent professional opinion on the financial statements. 

 

In addition, the auditor should normally issue a report covering the strengths and/or 

weaknesses in the internal control systems, accounting, and other operational procedures. 

Such a report is usually called a “management letter” and contains the following information: 

 

฀ The audit observations – explaining the observed anomalies, their undesirable impact, 

and the probable risk to the UoK. The management of the UoK has the right to be told 

the size of the audit sample from which each of the anomalies has been noted so as to 

gauge the extent of the problem to the UoK. 
 

฀ The suggested auditor’s remedial recommendations. It should be noted that the auditor 

is not working in the UoK on a full-time basis in order to know all the details therein. 

Therefore, it is necessary that the suggested remedies are discussed between the UoK’s 

management and the auditor to confirm their appropriateness. 
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฀ The comments by the management of the UoK, usually the vice chancellor, dof and 

the heads of the department. Those comments include the committed target deadline 

dates for the implementation of the agreed remedies. 
 

The management of the UoK has an inalienable right to discuss the findings and 

recommendations of the auditor before they are reported to any other party. This is to ensure 

that there are no disagreements on the contents of the auditor’s report. 
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APPENDIXES 

 

Appendix 1: Sample Of Receipt Voucher 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

Ref. No……... 

 

Date: …………………… 

 

Received 

 

From………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

For Mr / 

 

Mrs.:………………………………………………………………………………..……….. 

 

Ref/ Cheque N
0
: 

………………………………………………………………………….….……….. 

 

Rwf................................... Amount (In Words) 

 

……………………………………………………………………….. 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

…………………………...………………………………….. 

 

 

 

Amount Due: ……………………………………………………….……………… 

Amount Received: ……………………………………………….……………………..… 

Balance Due: …………………………………………….………………….………. 
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Appendix 2: Bank Payment Voucher 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

Ref. No………………….. 

 

 

Date…………………… 

 

Amount In Rwf ………………… …………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

 

Beneficiary/Payee…………………………………………………………………………… 

 

…………………………………………………………………...………………….………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

… 

 

 

Bank: ………………………………………..…………………….………………………….. 

 

Cheque No………………………………………..………………………………………….. 

 

Amount (In Words)…………………………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………….…….. 

 

Details………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………..……. 

 

 

Posting/Account And Code…………………………………………………………………… 

 

Prepared By………..………………… 

 

Verified By………………………… 

 

Approved By……………………… 
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Appendix 3: Petty Cash Payment Voucher 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

Ref. No: ….......... 

 

 

Date…………………… 

 

Amount In Rwf 

 

……………………………………………………………………………....... 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Beneficiary/Payee: 

 

……………………..…………………………………………………...….. 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Expense Details: 

….…………………………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Amount (In Words): 

……………………………..……………………………………….…… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Posting/Account And Code: 

…………………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

 

Prepared By Cashier Approved By Signed By Recipient 

 

 

 

 

Date: …………………….. 

 

Signature………………. 

 

 

 

 

………………………. 

 

……………………. 

 

 

 

 

………………. 

…….……..…… 
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Appendix 4: Local Purchase Order 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

 

 

 

Date…………….    

   PURCHASE ORDER No: 

   ..................................  

SUPPLIER…………………  DELIVER  

TO………………………………    

      

Quantity  Particulars  Unit Price Total Price 

Ordered Received     

      

      

      

 

 

Total 

 

Prepared By: ……………………………. 

 

Date…………………… 

 

Verified By ……………………………… 

…………………… 

 

Date 

 

Approved By: .......................................... 

 

Date…………………… 
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Appendix 5: Goods Received Note 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

 

Description Of Stock Item  Physical Items Receipt (In 

Total 

Cost 

Units)  

 

1 

 

2 

 

TOTAL 

 

Verified For Condition By: ……………………………. Date……………………………. 

 

Designation……………………………………………….. 

 

Agreed To Delivery Note By: ………………………. 

 

Date……………………………. 

 

Designation……………………………………………... 

 

Agreed To LPO By…………………………………….. 

 

Date……………………………. 

 

Designation…………………………………………….. 

 

Received By…………………………………………….. 

 

Date……………………………. 

 

Designation………………………………………….…. 

 

General Ledger Updated By: …………………………. 

 

Date…………………………… 

 

Designation…………………………………………………. 
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Appendix6: Journal Voucher 

 

University Of Kigali 

 

Jv. Ref……………. 

 

Date…………………. 

 

NARRATION………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………… 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

 

DETAILS……………………………………………………….. 

 

 

Date Account Code Description Of Amount 
 

 

  Account   

   Dr Cr 

     

     

     

 

 

Prepared By………..….… Date: ………………… 

 

Approved By……….……. Date………………..… 

 

Posted By…………….…… Date…………………. 
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